A Stakeholder Perspective of ES Implementation

A STAKEHOLDER PERSPECTIVE OF ENTERPRISE

SYSTEMS IMPLEMENTATION:

A CASE STUDY OF A UNIVERSITY'S ENTERPRISE

RESOURCE PLANNING PROJECT

SATHISH S/O SRITHARAN

(B. Comp., Information Systems, NUS)

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION SYSTEMS NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE 2004

Acknowledgements

The completion of this MSc. thesis is the culmination of a long and eventful journey. This was a journey that I strongly feel I would never have completed on my own. With that in mind, I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to a few special people, without whom this thesis would not have been possible.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors, Prof. K. S. Raman and Dr. Pan Shan Ling. Thank you for your help. Thank you for your support. Thank you for believing in me when others, and sometimes even myself, didn't. You have taught me so much in the time we've spent together, and because of you, I have not only become a better person, but more importantly, I have finally found my way in life.

Next, I would like to thank my fellow research colleagues. People like Paul, Mamata, Calvin, Chee Wee, and so many others. Not only have you been a sounding board for me, but more importantly, your dedication and passion for your work has truly inspired me to aspire to reach greater heights in both academia and teaching.

I would also like to thank my gatekeeper and the rest of the project team in my case study site. You have opened your doors to me, and done your utmost to facilitate my study, and for that I am forever grateful. To my family, who has endured my erratic hours and behavior, I thank you for your love and your support. Without you, I would not be where I am today.

Finally, to my fiancée. You have stood beside me through thick and thin, and your love has been my anchor during this time. Thank you.

Table of Contents

Titlei
Acknowledgementsii
Table of Contents iv
List of Tables ix
List of Figures x
Executive Summary xi
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1. Research Background1
1.2. Research Questions
1.3. Expected Contributions4
1.4. Organization of Thesis5
Chapter 2: Literature Review
2.1. Enterprise Systems6
2.1.1. Introduction to Enterprise Systems
2.1.2. Features of Enterprise Systems10
2.1.2.1. Use of External Vendors12
2.1.2.2. Best Practices
2.1.2.3. Potential for Integration15
2.1.2.4. Evolving Nature of Enterprise Systems
2.1.2.5. Modular and Flexible

2.1.2.6. Summary19
2.1.3. ES Implementation Involve a Large Number of Stakeholders 19
2.1.4. Enterprise Systems Life Cycle
2.2. Stakeholder Theory
2.2.1. Definition of Stakeholders
2.2.2. Several Key Stakeholder Theory Issues
2.2.3. Sample Stakeholder Theories
2.3. A Stakeholder Perspective of Enterprise Systems Implementations
Chapter 3: Research Methodology 46
3.1. Methodology Selection46
3.1.1. Qualitative versus Quantitative Research
3.1.2. Case Study Approach
3.2. Case Selection
3.3. Data Collection
3.4. Data Analysis
3.5. Summary62
Chapter 4: Case Description 63
4.1. Introduction
4.2. SAP Implementation Background in the University
4.3. The SAP Time Management (TM) Module67
4.3.1. Deciding on the TM Module67
4.3.2. Overview of the TM Project
4.4. Stakeholders of the TM Project71

4.4.1. Project Management Team71
4.4.1.1.Steering Committee
4.4.1.2.Project Managers
4.4.1.3.User Lead
4.4.1.4.HRD-Users74
4.4.1.5.HRD-IT
4.4.1.6.SAP Lead Consultant (SAP-LC)
4.4.1.7.Computer Department76
4.4.1.8.Development Team76
4.4.2. Other Stakeholders
4.4.2.1.Policy Makers77
4.4.2.2.University Staff
4.5. Project Life Cycle
4.5.1. Project Preparation Phase
4.5.1.1.Activities during this Phase
4.5.1.2.Importance of Stakeholders during this Phase
4.5.1.3.Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during this Phase
4.5.2. Business Blueprint Phase
4.5.2.1.Activities during this Phase
4.5.2.2.Importance of Stakeholders during this Phase
4.5.2.3.Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during this Phase
4.5.3. Realization Phase
4.5.4. Final Preparation Phase101

4.5.5.	Go-Live and Support Phase	2
4.5.6.	Post-Implementation Phase	2
Chapter 5:	Research Findings103	3
5.1. Stake	holder Identification102	3
5.1.1.	Key Activities Identification104	4
5.1.2.	Relevant Stakeholder Involvement Identification	5
5.1.3.	Relevant Inter-Relationships Identification	7
5.1.4.	Stakeholder Identification Model 109	9
5.2. Stake	holder Prioritization	0
5.2.1.	Stakeholders' Legitimacy Characteristics	2
5.2.2.	Stakeholders' Level A Sources of Power	3
5.2.3.	Stakeholders' Level B Sources of Power	4
5.2.4.	Stakeholder Prioritization Model	5
5.3. Stake	holder Management11	6
5.3.1.	Project Stakeholder Mix11	7
5.3.2.	Inter-Stakeholder Relationships Facilitation	9
5.3.3.	Inter-Stakeholder Knowledge Sharing Facilitation	1
5.3.4.	Stakeholder Management Model	4
5.4. Sumn	nary120	6
Chapter 6:	Conclusion 128	8
6.1. Sumn	nary123	8
6.2. Resea	arch Contributions	0
6.2.1.	Contributions to Theory	1

6.2.2. Contributions to Practice	
6.3. Future Research	
6.4. Limitations of Research	140
Chapter 7: References	142
Appendix A: Case Study Protocol	157
A.1 Introduction	157
A.2 Briefing the Interviewee	158
A.3 Interview Questions	159
A.4 List of Stakeholders	
Appendix B: A Sample of the Three-Step Thematic Analysis .	163
B.1 Sample Thematic Analysis: Step One	163
B.2 Sample Thematic Analysis: Step Two	165
B.3 Sample Thematic Analysis: Step Three	167
Appendix C: A Sample Codebook	
C.1 Code Number One	169
C.2 Code Number Two	170

List of Tables

<u>Table No.</u>	<u>Title</u> <u>F</u>	Page
Table 1	Basic Characteristics of Enterprise Systems	9
Table 2	Five Features of Enterprise Systems	
Table 3	The Main Stakeholders of ES Projects	
Table 4	ES Life Cycle's Key Players and Activities (Markus & Tanis, 2000)	
Table 5	Six-Step ES Project Life Cycle Model	30
Table 6	Strengths and Weaknesses of Sample Stakeholder Theories	
Table 7	Qualitative versus Quantitative Research	
Table 8	Relevant Situations for Different Qualitative Research Strategies	
	(Yin, 2003)	
Table 9	Details of Stakeholders Interviewed	57
Table 10	Results of Thematic Analysis of Case Study 6	
Table 11	SAP Implementation Timeline in the University	
Table 12	Activities and Stakeholders during the TM Project Life Cycle	
Table 13	Case Study Findings	126

List of Figures

<u>Figure No.</u>	<u>Title</u> <u>P</u>	age
Figure 1	Types of Enterprise Systems	8
Figure 2	Anatomy of an Enterprise System (Davenport, 1998)	20
Figure 3	Enterprise Systems Life Cycle (Markus & Tanis, 2000)	25
Figure 4	Accelerated SAP (ASAP) Roadmap	28
Figure 5	Typology of Influence Strategies (Frooman, 1999)	37
Figure 6	A Stakeholder Theory Model (Mitchell et al., 1997)	39
Figure 7	Extended Relational Foundations (ERF) Model	40
	(Hirt & Swanson, 2001)	
Figure 8	Timeline of the TM Project	70
Figure 9	Structure of Project Team	71
Figure 10	Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during the Project Preparation Phase	85
Figure 11	Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during the Business Blueprint Phase	92
Figure 12	Stakeholder Identification Model	109
Figure 13	Stakeholder Prioritization Model	116
Figure 14	Stakeholder Management Model	125
Figure 15	Stakeholder Analysis Model of Enterprise Systems Implementation	127

Executive Summary

Given the high rate of failure of Enterprise Systems (ES) projects (Sarker & Lee, 2003), ES surprisingly remain an under-researched area in IS (Rosemann & Watson, 2002). Studies that have explored ES per se have focused on common issues, such as measures of success, and lack of fit between organizational needs and system capabilities. In contrast, the study of the stakeholders of ES projects has not been adequately explored in IS practice (Papazafeiropoulou et al., 2002). The involvement of the large number of stakeholders, from within and without the organization in ES projects, though, seems to indicate the need for more in-depth studies on the perspectives of stakeholders and their inter-relationships (Pouloudi, 1999).

This study thus proposes the use of Stakeholder Theory as a lens through which to analyze the role and management of stakeholders of ES projects. In particular, this study begins with a review of literature on ES, to highlight the importance of stakeholders during ES projects, and on Stakeholder Theory, to showcase how it can facilitate the analysis of ES project stakeholders. Next, a case study of the first two phases of a university's ERP implementation was conducted. Based on this, several findings were identified with regards to the three components of the stakeholder analysis process of ES implementations; namely stakeholder identification, stakeholder prioritization, and stakeholder management. For stakeholder identification, this study recognized the need for the identification of key activities in each phase of the ES project life cycle, followed by the identification of the stakeholders and their inter-relationships during each of these activities. This results in a comprehensive list of the relevant stakeholders during the ES project. For stakeholder prioritization, this study identified two legitimacy characteristics, two Level A sources of power and two level B sources of power, that facilitate the differentiation between the relevant stakeholders such that the more appropriate important stakeholders receive greater priority during each phase of the project. For stakeholder management, this study identified the need to form a well-balanced mix of the stakeholders involved in the project. This study also identified the need to facilitate an environment in which these stakeholders can enhance their inter-relationships and knowledge sharing.

Finally, this study concludes with a comprehensive stakeholder analysis model for the study of the stakeholders of ES implementations and some future areas for research. Consequently, this study hopes to contribute towards bridging the gap in the understanding of the stakeholders of ES projects.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Research Background

Enterprise Systems (ES), as a distinct phenomenon of interest, are an important yet under researched area in IS curricula (Klaus et al., 2000; Rosemann & Watson, 2002). This is surprising since the business world's embrace of ES may be the most important development in the corporate use of IS in the 1990s, despite the media attention given to the rise of the Internet (Davenport, 1998). This is especially so today, as ES have become the price of entry for running a business (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000; Sarker & Lee, 2003) and the question for managers is no longer whether to implement ES but rather how to maximize such systems (Sousa, 2002).

The lack of studies on ES per se is all the more surprising when you realize that a significant proportion of ES projects fail (Sarker & Lee, 2003). At best, these failures result in huge losses for the organization, as in the case of Dell Computers, which spent US\$30 million before abandoning its SAP project (Staehr et al., 2002). At worst, they could lead to cases such as FoxMeyer Drugs, which filed for bankruptcy when its SAP R/3 project went badly wrong and FoxMeyer ended up suing its implementation partners, SAP and Anderson Consulting (Volkoff & Sawyer, 2001).

ES are integrated enterprise-wide systems based on centralized databases. They are large, comprehensive and complex systems, involving large groups of people (Oliver & Romm, 2002; Rosemann & Watson, 2002). They are also expensive projects, not just in terms of money, with costs ranging from \$50 million to over \$500 million (Davenport, 1998; Pan et al., 2001), but also in terms of other investments, such as staff and time (Adam & O'Doherty, 2000; Lee et al., 2003; Poston & Grabski, 2000). It is thus perhaps not surprising for so many ES projects to turn out to be less successful than expected (Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Sarker & Lee, 2003).

Thus far, ES studies have primarily focused on common issues, such as measures of success, lack of fit between organizational needs and system capabilities, and systems integration. Studies on certain groups of stakeholders involved in ES implementations, such as users and IT staff, have also been advocated in recent literature (Pouloudi, 1999), but this has been on a small scale where each group is considered individually. In reality, ES projects involve many different groups of people, or stakeholders, from within and without the organization (Schneider, 2002). These stakeholders generally have key roles to play in ES projects and interact closely to fulfill those roles.

For example, the use of external third-parties to implement ES (Light, 2001) results not just in the involvement of new external stakeholders in the project, but also new interstakeholder relationships among these external stakeholders and traditional internal stakeholders, such as IS staff and employees. ES' ability to facilitate enterprise-wide integration also results in greater involvement in the project by the numerous stakeholders from across the organization, thus resulting in a complex web of interstakeholder relationships. Such issues exemplify the diverse range of stakeholders who potentially are affected by or can impact on ES implementations. Logically, it thus appears that organizations should pay closer attention to these stakeholders and their needs. Instead, their importance, different viewpoints and ability to make things happen has been undermined in much of IS practice (Papazafeiropoulou et al., 2002).

This study posits that an in-depth study of the relevant stakeholders of ES implementations will provide greater insight into the impact they can have on the project and each other, and hence, how they should best be managed to maximize their contributions. This study proposes Stakeholder Theory as a lens to look at the stakeholders involved in ES implementations.

Stakeholder Theory focuses on the people factor instead of the technical factors of ES projects and looks at who (or what) are the stakeholders of an organization, and whom (or what) should organizations pay attention to (Freeman, 1984). It also advocates the study of the more important, and yet under-researched, issue of how the organization should deal with stakeholders who vary in importance (Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001).

Although such an in-depth exploration of the perspectives of stakeholders and their interrelations seems obvious (Pouloudi, 1999), there has been little systematic application of stakeholder analysis concepts, particularly in the context of ES implementations. This study aims to help to bridge this gap in ES implementation literature through a qualitative, interpretive case study of the first two phases of a university's ERP project from a stakeholder perspective. Data from this case study was then analyzed to identify key findings about the impact of stakeholders during ES projects.

1.2 Research Questions

To facilitate this study, three research questions were raised. They revolve around the application of stakeholder theory to the study of ES implementation.

- 1. How can the stakeholders of an ES implementation be identified?
- 2. How can the important stakeholders of an ES implementation be differentiated?
- 3. How can the different stakeholders be managed?

The first question focuses on the identification of the relevant stakeholders involved in ES implementations, out of the entire gamut of stakeholders associated with the organization. The second question addresses the issue of who among these stakeholders are more important and deserving of attention. Finally, the last question considers how, given the different levels of importance of its stakeholders, organizations should manage them during the course of ES implementations.

1.3 Expected Contributions

The contributions of this thesis are expected to be relevant to both researchers and practitioners. To researchers, the findings should help to bridge the gap in ES implementation literature and give some insight into ES implementation from the project stakeholders' perspective, thus serving as a launch pad for further studies in this area.

As for practitioners, the findings should highlight the practical importance of better understanding of the role of stakeholders and management of the stakeholders involved in ES projects. Given the high failure rate of ES projects, practitioners need better solutions on how to tackle these projects. The work done in this study can thus potentially help them to see the value of stakeholder management to the success of ES projects.

1.4 Organization of Thesis

This thesis consists of six chapters, starting with this introduction chapter. The next chapter presents a literature review on two topics. The first topic is Enterprise Systems; their key features, the different stakeholders involved in ES projects, and their project life cycle. The second topic is Stakeholder Theory; how stakeholders are defined, several key issues, and some sample theories.

Chapter three presents the research methodology used in this thesis, how it was selected, how the case was identified, and how the data from the study was collected and analyzed. Chapter four describes the details of the case, while chapter five presents the findings from the case. The study concludes in chapter six with a summary of the study, research contributions, areas for future research, and limitations of this study.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1 Enterprise Systems

2.1.1 Introduction to Enterprise Systems

Enterprise Systems evolved from Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems, which were large, packaged application software that supported manufacturing organizations' needs for better materials and logistics management since the 1970s (Hayman, 2000; Klaus et al., 2000). As ERP systems grew in scope, Davenport (1998) noted that ERP was too narrow a term to denote enterprise-wide integrated systems, and suggested that the term Enterprise Systems (ES) be used instead (Rosemann & Watson, 2002).

Since then, Enterprise Systems has become an umbrella term not just for ERP systems but other types of enterprise-wide integrated systems as well. These include supply chain management, inventory control, manufacturing scheduling, sales support, customer relationship management, financial accounting, enterprise resource planning, human resources, and product life cycle management systems (Markus & Tanis, 2000; Sedera et al., 2003; Shang & Seddon, 2002). Generally, ES are defined as pre-packaged enterprise-wide systems that integrate various day-to-day operations into a single system with a shared database (Lee & Lee, 2000; Newell et al., 2003; Sedera et al., 2003).

The three popular types of ES are ERP, Customer Relationship Management (CRM), and Supply Chain Management (SCM) systems (Brown & Vessey, 2003; Shaw, 2000). ERP systems traditionally support recurring business processes like procurement and manufacturing, enable enterprise-wide management of resources, and are not focused on less structured and irregular processes like marketing and project management (Klaus et al., 2000; Shang & Seddon, 2002).

Throughout the 1980s and 1990s, ERP systems expanded beyond their original scope, as software entrepreneurs developed integrated software packages in which multiple functional applications shared a common database to meet organizational information-processing needs (Markus & Tanis, 2000). Simultaneously, traditional inventory control (IC) packages evolved into Materials Requirements Planning (MRP) Systems, and expanded to include other enterprise processes such as marketing, financial accounting, and human resource management (e.g. Baan) (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000; Markus & Tanis, 2000). ERP systems are an amalgam of these different points of origin.

In the early 1980s, ERP systems were built on mainframe technology. In the late 1980s, they moved to minicomputers but their potential was still unrealized. Acceptance of ERP systems as a legitimate solution only emerged following the popularity of the client/server platform and development of cross-functional integrated ERP systems based on this architecture (Bennett & Timbrell, 2000; Markus & Tanis, 2000; Scott & Vessey, 2002). The growth of ERP systems is further expected to explode with the emergence of

new Web-based applications that provide levels of connectivity to rival the proprietary networks of large organizations (Bennett & Timbrell, 2000; Davenport, 2000).

CRM and SCM systems evolved from ERP systems (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000). CRM systems help organizations optimize interactions with customers via one or more touch points to acquire, retain or cross-sell to customers (Goodhue et al., 2002) by incorporating traditional marketing-oriented functions, such as sales force automation and customer service software (Davenport, 2000). SCM systems help organizations build tighter collaborative networks of ERP systems with suppliers and buyers (Howard et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003; Markus & Tanis, 2000) to ensure that the right products are delivered at the right time, at the right place, and at competitive prices (Shore, 2001).



Figure 1: Types of Enterprise Systems

Ideally, ERP, CRM and SCM systems are coordinated, with ERP systems integrating back-office functions to serve as the backbone for the organization, CRM systems integrating marketing, sales and customer service interactions with customers, and SCM systems integrating processes among the organizations in the supply chain (see Figure 1).

Characteristic	Reference
Large, comprehensive systems	Oliver & Romm, 2002; Rosemann &
	Watson, 2002
Highly complex to implement and manage	Oliver & Romm, 2002; Rosemann &
	Watson, 2002
Involve large groups of people and	Akkermans & Helden, 2002
resources	
Expensive (monetary)	Davenport, 1998; Livermore & Ragowsky,
	2002; Pan et al., 2001; Robey et al., 2002;
	Rodecker & Hess, 2001
Expensive (other investments, such as time,	Adam & O'Doherty, 2000; Lee et al.,
capital and staff)	2003; Poston & Grabski, 2000
Many project exceed initial deadlines	Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Lorenzo,
	2001; Murray & Coffin, 2001; Sprott, 2000
Many projects are less successful than	Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Parr &
intended	Shanks, 2000; Sarker & Lee, 2003

Table 1: Basic Characteristics of Enterprise Systems

ES have several basic characteristics (see Table 1). They are large, comprehensive systems that are highly complex to implement and manage, involving large groups of people and resources (Oliver & Romm, 2002; Rosemann & Watson, 2002). Many projects last from fourteen months to four years (Murray & Coffin, 2001), with most

exceeding their initial deadlines (Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Lorenzo, 2001; Sprott, 2000). They are also expensive (Livermore & Ragowsky, 2002; Robey et al., 2002; Rodecker & Hess, 2001), with costs easily ranging from \$50 million to more than \$500 million (Davenport, 1998; Pan et al., 2001).

These high expenses are not limited to money, as significant investments also need to be made in terms of capital, staff and time (Adam & O'Doherty, 2000; Lee et al., 2003; Poston & Grabski, 2000). It is thus perhaps not surprising that many ES projects turn out to be less successful than intended (Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Sarker & Lee, 2003) due to these high risks of implementation (Parr & Shanks, 2000). Despite these risks, there is a booming market today for such enterprise-wide integrated software packages (Markus & Tanis, 2000) due to their potential to integrate organizational functions into a single system with a shared database.

2.1.2 Features of Enterprise Systems

As mentioned above, ES are large, complex and comprehensive enterprise-wide systems whose implementation involves various different stakeholders. Specifically, ES have five special characteristics that highlight the potential impact of stakeholders on ES implementations (see Table 2).

Firstly, ES projects' development and maintenance are usually outsourced (Light, 2001). Secondly, these outsourced systems often come with a pre-defined set of best practices (Davenport, 1998). Thirdly, ES facilitate integration, which has long been the holy grail for organizations implementing IS (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000). Fourthly, ES should be considered as ongoing concerns (Hirt & Swanson, 2001) due to their constantly evolving nature. Finally, ES are modular and flexible (Davenport, 2000). These characteristics and the importance of stakeholders in each case are described next.

Features	Details	
Use of external	- A preferred option due to the size and complexity of ES.	
vendors	ES need different sets of tasks, skills and expertise.	
	Shortage of skilled IS staff in organizations.	
	- Exploit experienced external expertise to plug gaps in	
	organizational capabilities.	
	- Long-term relationship between external vendors and organization.	
Best practices	- ES come with their own in-built logic and best practices.	
	- Organizations can change the system to suit their processes.	
	- Organizations can change their process to suit the system.	
Potential for	- A core objective of organizations.	
integration	- A complex process.	
	- ES is particularly useful for coping with legacy systems.	
	- ES integration can affect the entire organization.	
Evolving	- Important to vendors	
nature of ES	- Increase sales.	
	- Easier to support several versions than various products.	
	- Competitive market among vendors.	

	 Important to customers Keep systems updated. 	
	- Get added functionality.	
	- To counter external pressures from value-chain partners.	
	- Increased organizational dependence on vendors.	
Modular and	- Use a component-based strategy to facilitate module development	
flexible	and implementation.	
	- Organizations can be more flexible and agile in mixing and	
	matching the modules implemented.	
	- Offers a higher level of portability.	
	- Facilitates integration among supply chain partners.	

Table 2: Five Features of Enterprise Systems

2.1.2.1 Use of External Vendors

Organizations can develop ES in-house or purchase templates tailored for specific industries (Klaus et al., 2000; Markus & Tanis, 2000; Sasovova et al., 2001). Due to their size and complexity though, outsourcing development or purchasing pre-packaged systems is the preferred option (Reimers, 2003; Scheer & Habermann, 2000; Willcocks & Sykes, 2000).

Another reason for this trend is that ES implementations require a different set of tasks, skills and expertise from traditional in-house developed systems (Hirt & Swanson, 2001).

Thus, using external vendors facilitates the acquisition of experienced external expertise to plug this gap and expedite the organization's exploitation of ES to its fullest (Adam & O'Doherty, 2000; Nah et al., 2001; Sumner, 2000). This need for external expertise is compounded by the shortage of skilled IS staff in organizations (Klaus et al., 2000).

Despite this, the focus in recent years has still primarily been on other stakeholders, such as customers and end-users, as many have failed to foresee the rising importance of vendors and third parties (Hirt & Swanson, 2001). This is especially surprising as ES projects as not merely one-off things, but the start of long-term relationships between organizations and external vendors (Markus & Tanis, 2000). Furthermore, as ES grow more complex and comprehensive, organizational dependence on these external parties increase (Davenport, 2000; Nah et al., 2001).

Consequently, organizations must learn how best to manage their long-term relationships with external parties. In addition, external parties change the organizational landscape. For example, internal IS staff may now handle systems integration and support, rather than systems development. Organizations thus need to identify and manage the new roles and inter-relationships amongst their internal and external stakeholders.

2.1.2.2 Best Practices

Another unique characteristic of ES is that they impose their own logic on the organization's strategy and culture (Davenport, 1998), based on the knowledge and experience accumulated from previous implementations (Shang & Seddon, 2002). These

best practices could govern implementation methodologies (Knapp & Shin, 2001), data flow (Rodecker & Hess, 2001), or business process models (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000; Lee & Lee, 2000).

Despite the idealistic view that there is one universal set of best practices (Murray & Coffin, 2001), these practices generally cater to specific classes of organizations (Nah et al., 2001), rather than all organizations. They are also vendor-defined and not customer-defined (Davenport, 1998). Despite that, they do offer benefits garnered from lessons learnt by past implementers, such as operational control, streamlined processes and just-in-time manufacturing (Hayman, 2000; Scott & Vessey, 2002).

The question then is whether the system fits organizational needs (Hong & Kim, 2002; Soh et al., 2000; Van Everdingen et al., 2000). If yes, are changes to the organization or system needed to support these best practices, and how should they be managed (Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Murray & Coffin, 2001).

On the one hand, organizations can configure a generic system to meet their needs (Esteves & Pastor, 2001b; Rosemann & Watson, 2002) if they have unique core requirements (Light, 2001) or to increase differentiation from competitors (Kremers & van Dissel, 2000). However, it is difficult, costly and risky to modify the complex ES (Jones & Price, 2001; Lee & Lee, 2000; Sumner, 2000), and it could cause complications during future upgrades (Hong & Kim, 2002; Soh et al., 2000).

On the other hand, organizations can modify the organization via business process reengineering (BPR) to support these best practices (Adam & O'Doherty, 2000; Kremers & van Dissel, 2000; Rodecker & Hess, 2001). This too has consequences, as BPR can be rather tedious (Robey et al., 2002), especially to organizations whose business schemes cannot be reconciled to the standards required by the system (Lee et al., 2003).

In both cases, there is significant impact on organizational stakeholders. For example, in modifying the system, closer relationships may need to be fostered between the external parties and internal IS staff to facilitate knowledge transfer so the IS staff can subsequently handle system maintenance. Alternatively following BPR, organizations may need to redefine their internal inter-relationships with and between their staff whose roles could change, and who need to be convinced and trained to utilize the new systems.

2.1.2.3 Potential for Integration

Integration is a core objective for organizations implementing ES (Oliver & Romm, 2002; Singletary, 2002). The quest for integration has been the holy grail of IS since the 1950s but high levels of organizational and technical complexity have been major stumbling blocks, until the emergence of ES, which facilitate the unification of an organization's IS (Adam & O'Doherty, 2000; Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000; Singletary, 2002).

Even so, ES integration is still a complex process (Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Sousa, 2002). It can involve the integration of modules, such as logistics and human resources

(Klaus et al., 2000; Sasovova et al., 2001), organizational functions (Knapp & Shin, 2001; Lee & Lee, 2000; Nah et al., 2001), or information across these functional units (Jones & Price, 2001; Murray & Coffin, 2001; Reimers, 2003). ES integration is particular useful for coping with legacy systems, which were custom-built and proliferated over the years into complex, disjointed and obsolete "islands of automation" (Brown & Vessey, 2003; McKenney & McFarlan, 1982; Tan & Pan, 2002).

In any case, ES integration can affect the entire organization (Reimers, 2003), especially given the single, centralized, enterprise-wide database to which all the ES applications are linked (Hirt & Swanson, 2001; Murphy & Simon, 2002; Stratman & Roth, 2002). Some ES even go beyond traditional organizational boundaries to facilitate integration along the inter-organizational supply chain (Davenport, 2000; Markus & Tanis, 2000).

ES projects have the potential to affect a number of organizational stakeholders within and without the organization. Thus, organizations need to cater to the needs of all these diverse stakeholders, while trying to fulfill the primary objectives of their owners. Organizations also need to work out ways of building closer inter-relationships between all the internal and external stakeholders to balance their contributions.

2.1.2.4 Evolving Nature of Enterprise Systems

Another characteristic of ES is that they are not static systems. They are always evolving to better meet organizational requirements, with new versions and upgrades regularly being made available (Brown & Vessey, 2003; Hirt & Swanson, 2001; Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000). Organizations thus no longer ask "Should we upgrade?" but rather "When do we upgrade?" with the main reasons holding them back being financial or bad past experiences (Kremers & van Dissel, 2000).

These upgrades are important to vendors. They increase sales from increased functionality or bolt-on products (Kremers & van Dissel, 2000). Having a number of smaller software versions is also easier to support as compared to a large variety of products (Kremers & van Dissel, 2000). Regular upgrading is important to vendors too, to keep pace with their competitors and prevent them from penetrating their market base (Davenport, 2000).

Regular upgrades are important to organizations as they keep their systems updated (Kremers & van Dissel, 2000; Shang & Seddon, 2002), and help them avoid major conversion headaches as compared to if they skip a few versions (Markus & Tanis, 2000). The upgrades could also be implemented to acquire additional functionality or in response to pressure from value chain partners (Kremers & van Dissel, 2000).

These regular updates though, may not only disrupt organizations' previous customizations (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000; Murray & Coffin, 2001), they cause organizations to become increasingly dependent on their vendors for future assistance, updates and maintenance (Light, 2001; Oliver & Romm, 2002, Sumner, 2000). Consequently closer ties are needed between organizations and external parties so upgrades can be carried out in an efficient and timely manner.

2.1.2.5 Modular and Flexible

The fifth characteristic of ES is its modularity. The basic core ES is the rigid backbone into which disparate best of breed applications are plugged and played (Davenport, 2000; Sasovova et al., 2001). Vendors employ a component-based strategy based on object-oriented systems modeling to develop modules that can be independently adopted on top of the core ES (Murrary & Coffin, 2001), such that their internal complexity is hidden from users who only have to understand the clearly defined interfaces (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000; Sprott, 2000).

This feature is especially important in today's dynamic business environment, as organizations need to be flexible and agile to cope with rapid internal and external changes (Sprott, 2000; Stratman & Roth, 2002; Van Everdingen et al., 2000). ES thus enables organizations to more flexibly mix and match their ES modules to better suit their needs. ES also offer high levels of portability, which further enhances the organization's ability to flexibly adapt to changing requirements (Adam & O'Doherty, 2000). This also results in highly modularized organizations, each specialized in its core competency but always prepared to link up with its business partners' ES (Shaw, 2000).

Hence, ES projects again involve many stakeholders within and without the organization. This is because each new module has to be integrated with existing modules and should complement the modules of partner departments and organizations. Thus, the conditions that necessitate flexible systems also necessitate flexible stakeholder relationships.

2.1.2.6 Summary

In analyzing these five areas, it is clear that organizations who implement ES have to deal with various different stakeholders from within and without the company. Even their usual stakeholders, such as end-users and internal IS staff, are changing, as their roles, responsibilities and activities during ES implementations are different as compared to other IS projects. As such, organizations need to be able to identify and differentiate between the new roles of these stakeholders during ES projects and their subsequent levels of importance. From there, organizations need to identify ways of managing them to maximize their contributions during ES implementations.

2.1.3 ES Implementation Involve a Large Number of Stakeholders

As seen from the characteristics mentioned above, ES implementations have a wide range of impacts on the stakeholders involved. As part of the development and use of ES, the roles, responsibilities and inter-relationships of stakeholders are often redefined. Organizations thus need to keep abreast of their stakeholders and their interactions, so that they can better manage them accordingly. Furthermore, considering the wide scope and impact of ES throughout the organization, they typically require input from a host of different stakeholders from within and without the organization. Hence, organizations need to know how to identify the relevant stakeholders of such ES projects and find ways to meet their various interests.



Figure 2: Anatomy of an Enterprise System (Davenport, 1998)

In a way, ES projects can be seen as socio-technical challenges where group dynamics and technological advancement continuously and mutually shape each other (Newell et al., 2002). There is thus a need to identify and understand these groups and their dynamics. Davenport (1998) initially attempted to identify the groups involved in ES (see Figure 2) and his list included top management, shareholders (which he termed as stakeholders), employees, customers and suppliers. Other researchers further explored the role of these stakeholders, and others, such as internal IS staff, third party vendors and end-users as a whole. In general though, the four main stakeholder categories of ES are management, end-users, IT staff and external parties (see Table 3).

Stakeholder	References
Management	Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Brown & Vessey,
	2003; Davenport, 1998; Esteves & Pastor, 2001a;
	Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Livermore &
	Ragowsky, 2002; Murray & Coffin, 2001;
	Reimers, 2003; Sarker & Lee, 2003; Stratman &
	Roth, 2002; Sumner, 2000
End-Users	Baskerville et al., 2000; Esteves & Pastor, 2001a;
	Esteves & Pastor, 2001b; Hirt & Swanson, 2001;
	Hong & Kim, 2002; Howard et al., 2003;
	Howcroft & Light, 2002; Klaus et al., 2000;
	Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Lorenzo, 2001;
	Pan et al., 2001
Internal IS Staff	Baskerville et al., 2000; Hirt & Swanson, 2001
External Parties	Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Brown & Vessey,
	2003; Markus et at., 2000a; Nah et al., 2001;
	Stratman & Roth, 2002; Volkoff & Sawyer, 2001

Table 3: The Main Stakeholders of ES Projects

The first key stakeholder category of ES projects is management. This includes the steering committee and project managers of the ES project. The active (Brown & Vessey, 2003; Davenport, 1998; Murray & Coffin, 2001), strong and committed (Livermore &

Ragowsky, 2002; Sarker & Lee, 2003) support of management is important to the project. Such support signals the importance of the system and shows management's backing of the project (Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Reimers, 2003), which is crucial given its complexity and comprehensive, enterprise-wide nature.

Their support helps to build acceptance and confidence in the system among the rest of the organizational stakeholders, to get them to contribute more effectively to the project. Such support needs to be evident throughout the project, from the start to roll it out, in the middle to keep it on track, and at the end to encourage its utilization (Esteves & Pastor, 2001a). In particular, the project should be supported by a project champion who overseas the project's progress and allocates the resources required for successful implementation (Esteves & Psator, 2001a; Stratman & Roth, 2002; Sumner, 2000). This person needs sufficient strength and authority over the stakeholders (Sarker & Lee, 2003) to energize them to work (Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002).

The second major stakeholder category of ES projects is the end-users. This includes internal staff and external customers. End-users are important as they possess the necessary know-how of the relevant business processes, which needs to be accurately mapped to the system's configurations (Esteves & Pastor, 2001a; Hirt & Swanson, 2001; Howcroft & Light, 2002). ES projects are more likely to succeed if end-user involvement and understanding is high, and they have realistic project expectations (Esteves & Pastor, 2001b; Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Pan et al., 2001).

Increasing the involvement of end-users also minimizes their resistance to changes in job content and uncertainty in the new system (Hong & Kim, 2002). The end-users of ES also require extensive training (Lorenzo, 2001) to learn a wider range of skills to effectively handle the system, and interact with internal IS staff and external vendors (Baskerville et al., 2000; Howcroft & Light, 2002). One particularly important group of end-users is the organization's customers, as they are no longer passive recipients of products and services. Instead, they have become increasingly discerning, demanding (Klaus et al., 2000), price conscious and impatient with regards to what they want (Howard et al., 2003).

The third important stakeholder category of ES projects is the internal IS staff. This includes both permanent and contract IS staff in the organization handling the system's technical implementation. As ES are generally developed by external parties, their role is significantly different during ES projects (Hirt & Swanson, 2001). They no longer design and build the actual system. Instead, they require skills that are oriented towards combining "package" knowledge and business knowledge (Baskerville et al., 2000). They also help the external parties to gather end-user feedback to facilitate the system's configuration and its integration with existing organizational systems.

The final important stakeholder category is the external parties. This includes third-party vendors, who develop the ES, and external consultants. Where previously, organizations would not contemplate delegating a project as important as an ES implementation to an outside party, today, they have to do so as they lack the necessary skills to handle it

themselves (Akkermans & Helden, 2002). Third-party vendors thus help to develop the systems software but are otherwise normally not involved in the ensuing implementation (Volkoff & Sawyer, 2001).

External consultants then help to fill any gaps in expertise, product knowledge, process guidance and IT skills (Brown & Vessey, 2003; Stratman & Roth, 2002; Volkoff & Sawyer, 2001) during the implementation process. As many as a dozen or more external agencies – such as vendors of ES, ES extensions and supporting hardware, and consultants – may be involved in different aspects of the ES experience and coordinating their efforts is, to put it mildly, a challenge (Markus et al., 2000).

For an ES project to be successful, representatives of each of these categories should be involved, and the strengths of each group maximized. However, as it is unlikely that a homogeneous category has all the relevant knowledge and expertise to implement ES (Newell et al., 2002), the mix of representatives should be well-balanced to ensure a good combination of knowledge, skills and experience (Sarker & Lee, 2003; Staehr et al., 2002; Willcocks & Sykes, 2000). Both internal and external personnel should be included to enable internal staff to "grow" the necessary skills for ES projects (Sumner, 2000).

This leads to three questions. Firstly, given the project's needs and the numerous stakeholders in organizations, who should be included in these projects? Secondly, as the project involves various stakeholders with their own needs and responsibilities, which of them are more important and deserving of attention? Finally, given their different levels
of importance and the need to cater to as many of their interests as possible, how can these different stakeholders be simultaneously managed?

2.1.4 Enterprise Systems Life Cycle

The identification and management of the relevant stakeholders of ES projects, though seemingly straightforward on the surface, is actually rather complex as ES implementations are not static processes. They iteratively traverse several phases, each of which is characterized by its own key players, activities, problems, metrics and outcomes (Chang et al., 2000; Markus & Tanis, 2000; Newell et al., 2002). In particular, stakeholders, and their roles and interactions, vary according to the phase in which they are in (Pouloudi, 1999) (see Table 4).



Figure 3: Enterprise Systems Life Cycle (Markus & Tanis, 2000)

A widely referenced theoretical ES life cycle model was developed by Markus & Tanis (2000) (see Figure 3) and consists of four phases, each with its' own players and activities (see Table 4). First is the Project Chartering, or planning, phase (Staehr et al.,

2002). Next is the Project phase, which involves the software configuration and roll-out (Markus et al., 2000; Staehr et al., 2002). Third is the Shakedown phase from when the system goes live to when normal operations are achieved (Staehr et al., 2002), after which the project team either continues to handle the project or passes control to the operational managers or end users. Finally, the Onward and Upward phase lasts until the system is upgraded or replaced, which can take up to four years (Staehr et al., 2002).

Phases	Key Players/Stakeholders	Key Activities
Project	Vendors	• Building a business case for
chartering	Consultants	enterprise systems
	• Company executives	• Selecting a software package
	• IT specialists	(though this decision may be
		deferred until the project phase)
		• Identifying a project manager
		• Approving a budget and
		schedule
The project	Project manager	Software configuration
	• Project team members (often	• System integration
	non-technical members of	• Testing
	various business units and	Data conversion
	functional areas)	• Training
	• Internal IT specialists	• Rollout
	• Vendors	
	• Consultants	

Shakedown	Project manager	• Bug fixing and rework
	• Project team members (often	• System performance tuning
	non-technical members of	• Retraining
	various business units and	• Staffing up to handle temporary
	functional areas)	inefficiencies
	• Operational managers	
	• End users	
	• IT support personnel (internal	
	or external)	
Onward &	Operational managers	Continuous business
upward	• End users	improvement
	• IT support personnel (internal	• Additional user skill building
	or external)	• Post-implementation benefit
	• Vendor personnel and	assessment
	consultants may also be	
	involved, particularly when	
	deliberations about upgrades	
	are concerned.	

Table 4: ES Life Cycle's Key Players and Activities (Markus & Tanis, 2000)

A more practical ES model employed by organizations implementing SAP software is SAP's Accelerated SAP (ASAP) methodology (ASAP Roadmap; SAPFile) (see Figure 4). ASAP combines methodologies, tools, templates and best practices to streamline implementations, covering a broad spectrum of functionality, and allowing for modifications to the software to meet specific organizational requirements.



Figure 4: Accelerated SAP (ASAP) Roadmap

This methodology consists of five phases. During the Project Preparation phase, the project team is finalized, the need for additional hardware is reviewed, and the high-level project plan is completed. During the Business Blueprint phase, a blueprint is developed to understand the organization's business goals and determine the business processes to support these goals, and the key users attend the customized SAP training. In the Realization phase, the team and SAP consultants co-configure the business processes

identified in the blueprint, and play them back to the users for their feedback and confirmation of the blueprint.

In the Final Preparation phase, the team completes final systems testing, trains users, cuts-over the data and system to the production environment, creates a Go-Live strategy, and gets approval for the system to go live. Finally, in the Go-Live and Support phase, the system is reviewed and refined by the organization to ensure that the business environment is fully supported. As the relationship between the organization and vendor usually only lasts until the system has stabilized, there is no post-implementation phase.

This study finds that by themselves, both models are insufficient for a detailed stakeholder analysis of ES implementations. The Markus & Tanis (2000) theoretical model does not clearly differentiate between the activities involved in its Project phase, while the ASAP model lacks a final Post-Implementation phase. This study thus proposes combing the two into a six-step ES project life cycle model (see Table 5), which better defines the phases of an ES project. Each phase has its' own key activities and relevant stakeholders, which are studied further in the subsequent case.

In particular, this study focuses on the first two phases of the project. It is felt that these phases are particularly important as they serve as the foundation upon which the rest of the project is based on. Furthermore, there is a need to study two phases instead of just a single phase, as the stakeholder activities, contributions and relationships in each phase vary. Thus, the study of two phases provides a more comprehensive look at the differences that exist between the stakeholders in distinct phases of the ES project.

Markus & Tanis (2000)'s	Accelerated SAP (ASAP)	Six-Step ES Project Life
Theoretical Model	Practical Model	Cycle Model
Project Chartering phase	Project Preparation phase	Project Preparation phase
Project phase	Business Blueprint phase	Business Blueprint phase
	Realization phase	Realization phase
	Final Preparation phase	Final Preparation phase
Shakedown phase	Go-Live and Support phase	Go-Live and Support phase
Post-Implementation phase	-	Post-Implementation phase

Table 5: Six-Step ES Project Life Cycle Model

2.2 Stakeholder Theory

Having identified the main stakeholder categories of ES projects and why they are important to the success of these projects, the next step is to analyze the contributions and interactions of these stakeholders in greater detail. This is necessary for the organization to effectively manage these stakeholders. To facilitate such an analysis, this study proposes the use of Stakeholder Theory.

2.2.1 Definition of Stakeholders

Stakeholder Theory views an organization as a system of stakeholders. In Stakeholder Theory, a stakeholder can be defined in a number of ways. The most popular definition is by Freeman (1984) who defined a stakeholder as any group or individual who can affect or be affected by the achievement of an organization's purpose (Chan et al., 2003; Starik, 1994). Even if no claim is made, no interest expressed, no right asserted, there may still be some "stakeholding" between any two entities (Starik, 1994). This definition though, only considers stakeholders from the perspective of the organization under study (Friedman & Miles, 2002; Pouloudi, 1999).

Alternatively, stakeholders can be defined as persons or groups that have, or claim ownership, rights or interests in a corporation and its activities, past, present or future (Clarkson, 1995). These interests or stakes could be because the stakeholder was affected by the firm's behavior (Rowley & Moldoveanu, 2003), was involved in the actual development, operation and use of the system (Mendelow, 1984), or has a stake in the organization's decisions (Pouloudi, 1999). Ultimately, stakeholders can have multiple kinds of stakes in a system (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002) and those with similar interests, claims or rights can be classified as belonging to the same group (Clarkson, 1995).

Stakeholders may be classified as primary or secondary (Clarkson, 1995; Mitchell et al., 1997; Schneiderman & Rose, 1996). Primary stakeholders interact directly with the system and without whose participation, the organization cannot survive. Secondary stakeholders interact indirectly with the system and are not essential for its survival.

Stakeholders could be internal or external groups, depending on whether they originate from inside or outside the organization (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002; Pouloudi, 1999; Schneider, 2002). They could be owners or non-owners, voluntary or involuntary actors, resource providers or dependents, or risk-takers or influencers (Mitchell et al., 1997). Finally, a stakeholder can be classified as an individual, group of individuals, subset of an identifiable group of individuals, organization, institution, society or even the natural environment (Jones, 1995; Mitchell et al., 1997; Scott & Lane, 2000).

Common stakeholders identified by Stakeholder Theory studies include customers, employees, suppliers, competitors, shareholders and government agencies (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002; Greenley & Foxall, 1998). Other stakeholders identified include board members (Schneider, 2002; Scott & Lane, 2000), top management (Clarkson, 1995), IT staff (Ruohonen, 1991), third-party vendors and consultants (Hirt & Swanson, 2001), and the general community (Berman et al., 1999; Boatright, 2002).

The definition of stakeholders used in this study is based on the basic definition by Freeman (1984). The stakeholders of ES implementations are thus any group or individual who can affect or be affected by the project.

2.2.2 Several Key Stakeholder Theory Issues

As mentioned in section 1.1, Stakeholder Theory refocuses our attention on people and the organization (Coakes & Elliman, 1999). Although several researchers have studied stakeholders, such studies generally focus on one or two stakeholders in isolation of the rest. Stakeholder Theory though, proposes that an organization should be seen as a system of stakeholders, and its objective should be the study and promotion of all their interests without favoring one group over others (Boatright, 2002; Clarkson, 1995).

According to Stakeholder Theory, each stakeholder is different. For example, they have different frames of reference in assessing ES project success (Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002; Sasovova et al., 2001; Singletary, 2002), which can result in conflicting interests and incompatible requirements (Hong & Kim, 2002; Soh et al., 2000). Stakeholders also differ with respect to their importance to the organization (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002; Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001).

Social perception theory dictates that such differences inevitably exist (Klein & Jiang, 2001) and could be in the form of different perspectives, purposes or units of measurement (Donaldson & Preston, 1995; Massey et al., 2001; Seddon et al., 1998). On the plus side, this could result in diverse and rich accounts of the context (Pouloudi, 1999) while on the down side, it could lead to complex and at time conflicting interests (Chan et al., 2003; Collins, 1994; Massey et al., 2001).

Consequently, stakeholders generally act first and foremost to protect their own interests. Such stakeholder activism has become a common occurrence in corporate life and a genuine managerial issue, as groups such as environmentalists and human rights organizations utilize various strategies to try and influence firms' actions to promote their interests (Rowley & Moldoveanu, 2003). Hence it is important that organizations identify and manage all their different stakeholders and their interests.

One particular gap in the literature on stakeholders has been a lack of appreciation of the scope of stakeholder relationships (Friedman & Miles, 2002). These relationships are not limited one-to-one interactions but are a complex array of multiple interdependent relationships that exist in stakeholder environments (Howard et al., 2003; Pouloudi, 1999; Rowley, 1997). Since each stakeholder has some form of investment in the organization or system, they should all be entitled to a share of the value it generates (Kochan & Rubinstein, 2000).

Organizations should thus not limit their focus to any one group but should give all groups the opportunity to participate and benefit from the system to increase their satisfaction with it (Pouloudi, 1999; Schneiderman & Rose, 1996). Additionally, since how each stakeholder reacts to a situation is based on his interaction with multiple influences from the entire stakeholder set (Nambisan & Agarwal, 1998; Rowley, 1997; Rowley & Moldoveanu, 2003), the interests of that stakeholder group cannot be considered in isolation of other groups since they are all inevitably linked (Greenley & Foxall, 1998; Massey et al., 2001; Pouloudi, 1999). In fact, aligning them on what the project is about can enhance the project's possibility of success (Akkermans & Helden, 2002; Hartman & Ashrafi, 2002).

Identification of the relevant stakeholders leads to a better understanding and more efficient management of the complex inter-stakeholder web. This has various benefits, such as the consideration of organizational and political issues, which have often been identified as the main culprits of project failures, from multiple perspectives (Pouloudi, 1999). In fact, success in satisfying these multiple interests, rather than meeting conventional economic and financial criteria, may constitute the ultimate test of corporate performance (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002), as it allows the organization to more closely align its corporate priorities and actions with stakeholder needs (Wolfe & Putler, 2002).

Stakeholders though, are not fixed. They vary depending on the time and context (Pouloudi, 1999). Organizations thus need to analyze how and why such variances occur, as this impacts on who the key stakeholders at a given time are. One possibility identified in past research is that these changes could be due to the different situations that stakeholders are in (Wartick, 1994). For example, different stakeholders become critical to the organization at different stages of the project life cycle (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002; Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001).

As these changes can occur for any number of reasons, in any number of directions (Friedman & Miles, 2002), the question is no longer just when to involve different stakeholders, but more importantly, how to utilize them (Scott & Wagner, 2003). Again, such analysis is only possible based on a comprehensive identification of all the relevant stakeholders and their levels of contribution. This can then facilitate a variable management process to cater to these stakeholder changes.

In short, according to Stakeholder Theory, stakeholders have three characteristics that need to be addressed during stakeholder analysis. Firstly, they are different so organizations need to identify their individual characteristics and interests. Secondly, they exist in a complex web of inter-relationships so organizations need to understand and manage their complex interactions. Finally, stakeholders, their contributions, interests, relationships, and so on are variable at each phase of a project life cycle.

Hence, to facilitate greater understanding of stakeholders, it is important for organizations to first correctly identify the relevant stakeholders in the organization (Adelakun & Jennex, 2002), and understand their perceived stakes in the system (Rowley & Moldoveanu, 2003), the types of influence they can exert (Rowley, 1997), and how they will act in different circumstances (Frooman, 1999). Prioritization of these stakeholders further helps organizations to focus on their more important stakeholders first before fulfilling their other responsibilities (Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001; Starik, 1994; Wolfe & Putler, 2002). Finally, there is a need to understand how organizations respond to the influences exerted by stakeholders (Rowley, 1997), and how they manage these stakeholders.

2.2.3 Sample Stakeholder Theories

Several theories abound concerning stakeholder analysis of organizations, with the most basic one being Freeman (1984)'s "The Principle of Who or What Really Counts". It considers two questions; "Who (or what) are the stakeholders of the firm", and "To

whom (or what) do managers pay attention" (Mitchell et al., 1997). This theory is rather simplistic though, as it does not explain how stakeholders are identified or prioritized, or how to handle stakeholders once they have been identified.

This is a prevalent trend in Stakeholder Theories. The theories agree that the starting point of stakeholder analysis is the identification of stakeholder groups and their interests, and an evaluation of their level of importance (Frooman, 1999; Wolfe & Putler, 2002) but otherwise fail to actually explain how this can be done, or how the stakeholders should subsequently be handled.

		Is the stakeholder dependent on the firm?	
		No	Yes
	No	Indirect /	Indirect /
Is the firm dependent on the		Withholding	Usage
stakeholder?	Yes	Direct /	Direct /
		Withholding	Usage

Figure 5: Typology of Influence Strategies (Frooman, 1999)

For example, Frooman (1999)'s Typology of Influence Strategies considers three questions about stakeholders: Who are they?; What do they want?; How are they going to get it? His model goes on to look at the third question, and highlights two types of resource control strategies: a withholding strategy, where they discontinue providing a

resource, and a usage strategy, where they continue to supply a resource but with strings attached. It also shows two types of influence pathways, a direct strategy, where they manipulate the resource flow, and an indirect strategy, where they work through an ally to manipulate the resource flow (see Figure 5). However, although this theory describes how stakeholders can affect organizations, again, it does not describe how such stakeholders are identified and prioritized, or how they should subsequently be handled.

Mitchell et al. (1997), attempted to bridge this gap with a descriptive stakeholder theory model. The authors felt that classes of stakeholder can be identified by their possession or attributed possession of one, two or all three of the following attributes:

- 1. The stakeholder's power to influence the organization.
- 2. The legitimacy of the stakeholder's relationship with the organization.
- 3. The urgency of the stakeholder's claim on the organization.

Power here is defined as a relation among social actors, where actor, A, can get another actor, B, to do something that B would not otherwise have done (Agle et al., 1999; Mitchell et al., 1997). Legitimacy is defined as a generalized perception or assumption that the actions of a stakeholder are desirable, proper or appropriate within some socially acceptable and expected set of norms, values, beliefs and definitions (Agle et al., 1999; Mitchell et al., 1997). The attribute of urgency moves the model from static to dynamic (Mitchell et al., 1997). They defined urgency as a multidimensional notion based on time-sensitivity, or degree to which managers delay in attending to the stakeholder, and

criticality, or importance of the claim to the stakeholder (Agle et al., 1999; Mitchell et al., 1997; Rowley & Moldoveanu, 2003).



Figure 6: A Stakeholder Theory Model (Mitchell et al., 1997)

These attributes collectively contribute to stakeholder salience, or importance, which is the degree to which managers give priority to competing stakeholder claims, and affects how they manage these stakeholders (Agle et al., 1999) (see Figure 6). In addition, the authors claim that these attributes are variable, and can change for any particular stakeholder relationship, and the existence or degree present of each attribute is a matter of multiple perceptions and is a constructed reality rather than an objective one. Finally, they claim that a stakeholder may or may not be conscious of possessing the attribute, and if conscious of it, may not choose to act on it.

In another example, the Extended Relational Foundations (ERF) model (Hirt & Swanson, 2001), covers four entities, namely IS staff, users, application systems and external parties, and the inter- and intra-relationships between them (see Figure 7). This model

highlights two key issues of the stakeholder analysis process. Firstly, stakeholders that are both internal and external to the organization, and their relationships, should be considered. Secondly, in addition to studying the inter-relationships between stakeholders, the interactions amongst the members of stakeholder groups should also be studied. It should however be noted that the stakeholders considered in this model are not limited to human actors. Furthermore, the four entities considered are insufficient, as important groups such as top management, are not included. Finally, this model does not detail exactly how these stakeholders should be identified, prioritized or handled.



Figure 7: Extended Relational Foundations (ERF) Model (Hirt & Swanson, 2001)

Below is a summary of the stakeholder analysis models mentioned above, and their strengths and weaknesses (see Table 6). From this summary, this study posits that an indepth stakeholder analysis of ES implementations should include the following:

- 1. A look at how the relevant stakeholders of a project can be identified.
- 2. A look at how the stakeholders of a project can be prioritized.
- 3. A look at how the stakeholders of a project should be managed.
- 4. A look at the dynamics of inter-stakeholder relationships.

Model / Theory	Strengths	Weaknesses
Freeman (1984)'s "The	- It looks at who the	- It does not cover how to
Principle of Who or	stakeholders are.	identify and prioritize
What Really Counts"	- It looks at who managers	stakeholders.
	should pay attention to.	- It does not identify how to
		handle stakeholders.
Frooman (1999)'s	- It looks at who the	- It does not cover how to
Typology of Influence	stakeholders are.	identify and prioritize
Strategies	- It looks at what these	stakeholders.
	stakeholders want.	- It does not identify how to
	- It looks at how they get	handle stakeholders.
	what they want.	
Mitchell et al. (1997)'s	- It covers how to identify	- It does not actually identify
Model	and prioritize stakeholders.	the stakeholders who are
	- It identifies how these	salient.

	attributes affect the	- It does not identify how to
	salience of a stakeholder.	handle stakeholders.
	- It covers how stakeholder	- It does not take into
	salience affects how they	account the dynamics of
	are subsequently handled.	stakeholder relationships.
Hirt & Swanson	- It highlights the need to	- It is not focused on human
(2001)'s Extended	consider both internal and	stakeholders.
Relational Foundations	external stakeholders.	- The list of stakeholders
(ERF) model	- It highlights the need to	considered is incomplete.
	consider stakeholder inter-	- It does not cover how to
	and intra-relationships.	identify and prioritize
		stakeholders.
		- It does not identify how to
		handle stakeholders.

Table 6: Strengths and Weaknesses of Sample Stakeholder Theories

2.3 A Stakeholder Perspective of Enterprise Systems Implementations

Having considered various issues surrounding Enterprise Systems and Stakeholder Theory, this study now applies this theory in the context of ES. The first step in analyzing the stakeholders involved in ES projects is to define who qualifies as a stakeholder. The definition of stakeholders used in this study is based on the basic definition offered by Freeman (1984). Thus, the stakeholders of ES implementations are any group or individual who can affect or be affected by the project.

As mentioned in section 2.1.3, this covers four categories, namely top management, endusers, IS staff and external parties. However, this is insufficient as each category is rather broad and there could be several groups within each of them. For example, the top management group could consist of the project managers and project steering committee. So, each distinct stakeholder group within each category should also be identified.

Next, a study involving a stakeholder perspective of ES should address the three key Stakeholder Theory issues highlighted in section 2.2.2. Firstly, stakeholders are different. In the case of ES implementations this is evident in the different skills needed during the course of the project. Since it is unlikely for any one person to have all the necessary skills and expertise, different stakeholders are required. For example, external consultants are required to share their expertise about systems implementation, while end-users provide the necessary business knowledge on the processes that the system will support. Each stakeholder thus contributes to the project in a different way and has his own interests. Hence, organizations need to identify the different interests of these stakeholders and see how best to fulfill all their needs.

Secondly, stakeholders exist in a complex web of inter-relationships. Past literature on ES implementations has focused on specific stakeholders in isolation of the rest. In reality, during the course of ES projects, these stakeholders do not work independently. Instead,

they work closely with varying levels of interaction to maximize their contributions. For example, end-users do not just supply business requirements. They also work closely with IS staff to see which requirements can be supported by the system and which ones require alternative solutions. Consequently, a stakeholder's actions during the project are likely to be influenced by these stakeholders. Organizations therefore need to identify the levels of interaction among their stakeholders. From there, they should manage all relevant stakeholders simultaneously.

Finally, stakeholders are dynamic in different situations. In section 2.1.4, it was shown that ES projects comprise of different phases, each with its own key activities (Markus & Tanis, 2000). Each activity places different demands on the ES project team, especially with regards to the skill sets required to carry out the activity. Logically, it follows that the combination of stakeholders and their levels of contribution required to support each activity varies as well. Organizations thus need to identify the different key activities in each phase of the ES life cycle, the stakeholders involved in each activity, and the levels of interaction between them. This allows each stakeholder to be appropriately managed in each phase of the ES project.

This study adopts Mitchell et al. (1997)'s model to analyze the stakeholders involved in ES projects in the following case study, as it provides a starting point in describing the stakeholder analysis process. This model though, is limited when applied to ES implementations. Firstly, it is incomplete, as it only describes the attributes that contribute to stakeholder salience without specifically going on to identify the

stakeholders who are salient (Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001). Furthermore, although these attributes may be useful in differentiating between a given set of stakeholders, there should be an additional step prior to this model to first identify this set of stakeholders. Secondly, the attributes may be too simplistic for an analysis of the stakeholders of an ES project, as there could be a number of sources of the attributes involved. Finally, although this model proposes that stakeholder salience affects the way stakeholders are managed, it does not actually describe how the organization should handle its stakeholders who have different levels of importance during the course of the ES project.

A primary aim of this study is to build on Mitchell et al., (1997)'s model. This study thus looks to utilize this model for a stakeholder analysis of ES implementations by building on it and expanding on how stakeholder can be identified, prioritized and managed. To do so, this study looks at three research questions:

- 1. How can the stakeholders of an ES implementation be identified?
 - This question helps to identify the process by which all the relevant stakeholders involved in an ES project can be spotted.
- 2. How can the important stakeholders of an ES implementation be differentiated?
 - This question helps to identify the characteristics that can be used to distinguish between the stakeholders identified.
- 3. How can the different stakeholders be managed?
 - This question helps to identify the key issues that need to be addressed in facilitating the handling of these different stakeholders.

Chapter 3

Research Methodology

3.1 Methodology Selection

3.1.1 Qualitative versus Quantitative Research

A common distinction among research strategies in IS, is between qualitative and quantitative research methods (Myers, 1997). Quantitative research methods were originally developed in the natural sciences to study natural phenomena, while qualitative methods were developed in the social sciences to study social and cultural phenomena (Myers, 1997).

Basis of	Qualitative	Quantitative	References
Comparison	Research	Research	
Origin	Based on social	Based on natural	Myers, 1997
	sciences	sciences	
Type of research	Subjective	Objective	Lee, 1991; Lee, 1992
Focus of research	Description	Statistics	Lee, 1991; Lee, 1992,
			Neuman, 2003
Level of involvement	Involved insiders	Detached outsiders	Denzin & Lincoln,
of researchers			2000; Lee, 1991; Lee,
			1992, Neuman, 2003
Research design	Flexible	Linear	Neuman, 2003; Taylor
			& Bogdan, 1984

General approach	Interpretive	Positivist approach	Neuman, 2003
used	approach		

Table 7: Qualitative versus Quantitative Research

A qualitative rather than quantitative methodology was adopted for this study for several reasons (see Table 7). A key distinction between quantitative and qualitative research is that the quantitative approach is objective and relies heavily on statistics and figures, while the qualitative approach is subjective and utilizes language and description (Lee, 1991; Lee, 1992). Quantitative researchers thus seek to measure objective facts, focusing on variables and utilizing statistical analysis, while qualitative researchers prefer to construct social reality and cultural meaning, focusing on interactive processes and events with the use of thematic analysis (Neuman, 2003).

However, by reducing people's worlds and acts to statistical equations, we freeze their social world into a structure of causality, thereby neutralizing the role of the human effect. Hence, to understand the behavior of people in organizations, researchers need to appreciate and describe their culture, and seek answers on how their social experiences are created and given meaning (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Lee, 1992; Neuman, 2003).

Hence, since this study focuses on the impact of stakeholders during ES implementations, the qualitative method was selected. It assumes that the social world is made up of nothing more than names, concepts and labels, which are artificial creations whose utility is based upon their convenience as tools for describing, making sense of and negotiating the external world (Lee. 1992). Social action only occurs when an actor assigns his own meaning to his conduct and the environment.

Qualitative research thus provides a rich and detailed description of these social worlds to help researchers grasp the meaning and significance of social phenomena, and understand the motives, reasons and goals that lead people to act in the ways they do (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000). In this way, it aims to further our understanding of the entire research context by studying all of its constituent parts, such as individual stories, technologies and processes (Scott & Wagner, 2003).

Generally, most quantitative researchers use a positivist approach to their studies, which is based on rigorous, exact measures and objective research (Neuman, 2003). In contrast, the interpretive approach is the main choice for qualitative researchers (Neuman, 2003), as was the case in this study, although it should be noted that the word interpretive is not necessarily synonymous with qualitative (Klein & Myers, 1999).

The interpretive approach is desirable as our knowledge of reality, including the domain of human action, is a social construction of human actors who shape and attach their own meanings to world around them (Newell et al., 2003; Walsham, 1993). The interpretive approach thus facilitates the understanding of phenomena through assessing the meanings that participants assign to them, so that we can interpret this reality in terms of what it means to the observed people and learn the motivations behind their actions (Lee, 1991; Neuman, 2003; Orlikowski & Baroudi, 1991).

3.1.2 Case Study Approach

The case study approach can be based on both qualitative and quantitative evidence (Yin, 2003), and is but one way of capturing the nuance and complexity of a social situation under study. Other ways include experiments, surveys, histories and the analysis of archival information (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Yin, 2003). Each method is suitable under different circumstances (see Table 8).

Strategy	Form of research	Requires control of	Focus on
	question	behavioral events?	contemporary events?
Experiment	How, why	Yes	Yes
Survey	Who, what, where, how many, how much, why	No	Yes
Archival analysis	Who, what, where, how many, how much	No	Yes
History	How, why, what	No	No
Case study	How, why, what	No	Yes

Table 8: Relevant Situations for Different Qualitative Research Strategies

(Adapted from Yin, 2003)

This study focuses on the how and why questions surrounding the involvement of stakeholders in ES implementations. As such, an experimental, historical or case study approach could be appropriate (Leonard-Barton, 1990; Yin, 1981; Yin, 2003). Since this study has little control over the ES implementation process, this leaves the historical or case study approach (Benbasat et al., 1987; Staehr et al., 2002; Yin, 2003). Finally, as this study focuses on a contemporary phenomenon within a real-life context, it leaves the case study method as the most viable approach to conducting this study (Leonard-Barton, 1990; Staehr et al., 2002; Yin, 2003).

The case study method is not meant for hypothesis-testing (Leonard-Barton, 1990), but for exploratory, descriptive or explanatory purposes (Neuman, 2003; Yin, 1981; Yin, 2003). Exploratory research occurs when the issue is new. Descriptive research occurs when there is a developed idea about a phenomenon, and the focus is on the how and who questions to paint a detailed picture of a situation, social setting or relationship. Finally, explanatory research occurs when the desire is to build on exploratory and descriptive research to identify the causes and reasons why something happens.

Exploratory research is used in this study to present a picture of who the stakeholders of an ES project are and how they are involved, since the study of the stakeholders of ES implementations is an area of research that is still in its early, formative stages and is not yet theoretically understood (Nah et al., 2001; Van der Blonk, 2003; Walsham, 1993). Finally, this study is conducted in the organization's natural setting since the boundaries of stakeholder involvement are not clearly evident at the outset of the research (Benbasat et al., 1987; Nah et al., 2001).

Case studies can be of a single-case or multiple-case design (Yin, 1981). Multiple cases usually yield more general research results (Benbasat et al., 1987), while a single-case study is more appropriate if it is a revelatory case of a previously inaccessible situation, a critical case in testing a well-formulated theory, an extreme or unique case, or a representatively typical case (Benbasat et al., 1987; Yin, 2003). The single-case design was thus adopted as this case involves a common event, an ES project, where the lessons learnt should be informative to average organizations involved in such projects.

3.2 Case Selection

Having decided to conduct an interpretive case study, the next step was selecting an appropriate site and unit of analysis for study. Should the study focus on an individual, group, project, organization, movement, decision or event (Benbasat et al., 1987; Neuman, 2003)? This study focuses on a project, in particular an ERP project.

The next consideration is the desired characteristics of the organization and nature of the topic (Benbasat et al., 1987). The researcher sought a site with a multi-tiered organizational hierarchy and distinct departments that interact during the project. As this study sought to understand the role of stakeholders in ES projects, the project should also preferably involve as many internal and external stakeholders as possible.

Finally, the site should have a variety of temporal zones that mark different social realities to provide various stakeholders with diverse incentives and perspectives (Scott & Wagner, 2003). This is especially appropriate in this study, as the stakeholders need to interact with different temporal zones, and thus, need to be managed to minimize potential tensions or collisions.

A university illuminates the notion of a temporal zone nicely (Scott & Wagner, 2003). It has a number of temporal zones in terms of its population of staff, which consists of academic and non-academic staff. Furthermore, its staff is spread across different departments and faculties that interact with one another in using this system. Each group of staff has its own needs and perspectives of the system, and its involvement in the project varies.

The university to be studied had 11 different stakeholders who were involved in the project. They were from inside the department implementing the system, across the university and outside it. Finally, this university had a history of ERP implementation, and had just embarked on a new project. All this made this university an ideal choice for conducting this case study.

3.3 Data Collection

To facilitate the data collection process, the first step was to establish a partnership with the site, rather than a researcher-subject relationship (Taylor & Bogdan, 1984). In fact, almost as much time and effort should be spent on fostering and maintaining this relationship as on the actual data gathering (Leonard-Barton, 1990). The researcher facilitated this by first contacting a Senior Manager in the department. After convincing him of the validity of the study, the Senior Manager agreed to serve as the gatekeeper for the case study, and facilitated the researcher's access to various documents, and interviewees that were identified from the researcher's initial study of the documents.

To maintain this relationship, the researcher regularly updated the gatekeeper on the study's progress. He also emphasized to the interviewees that the motives of the study were strictly academic and offered to use pseudonyms to maintain anonymity. He even allowed the interviewees to review the factual portions of the study. Finally, he signed a confidentiality agreement and allowed the gatekeeper to have the final say on any publications. This allowed the researcher to build stronger relationships with the gatekeeper and interviewees, gain the desired access to the data and be kept informed of events, which affected the study.

The researcher conducted a thorough literature review prior to the actual study to get a firm grasp of the issues being studied. From there, an initial case study protocol was developed, which included the case study questions, data collection procedures (i.e. interviews and documentation), and an outline of the proposed final report. This protocol was modified during the course of the study as new data was unveiled, but the core of it was largely kept intact as a guide to ensure that the researcher was on track throughout the study. Then, while collecting data, the researcher could focus on data that was

relevant to the role of stakeholders in the ERP project. A sample of this case study protocol is given in Appendix A.

The next step was the data collection itself. In conducting a case study, there are multiple sources from which an investigator can gather data (Leonard-Barton, 1990; Van der Blonk, 2003). The primary sources of data include documents, archival records, interviews, direct observation and physical artifacts (Benbasat et al., 1987; Yin, 1981; Yin, 2003). For this case study, data was collected from documentation, such as project plans and minutes of meetings, and interviews.

Interviewing is one of the most common and powerful ways of understanding our fellow human beings (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000). For this study, the researcher conducted unstructured, open-ended, in-depth interviews with the interviewees. They ranged from 30 minute to three-hour sessions, and utilized a host of communication channels. Initial interviews were conducted face-to-face or via e-mail. For the face-to-face interviews, the sessions were taped where possible. If the interviewee was uncomfortable being taped, the researcher manually transcribed the interview instead. Following each interview, the recordings were transcribed and a copy sent to the interviewee for verification. E-mail and the telephone were used to follow-up if the researcher had additional questions.

During the interviews, the researcher sought to remain unbiased by any preconceived notions, so as to be more sensitive to unexpected or contradictory information. He also kept track of previous interviewee responses while probing the current informant, to better assess what was said and catch what was unsaid. This enabled him to probe deeper where necessary, especially when there was conflicting data. He employed a flexible interview design so that the research questions and number of interviews could be changed throughout the study as new information was made available. For example, as it became evident that the Development Team was totally uninvolved in the first two phases, it became unnecessary to interview them.

No matter how numerous the observations from a single vantage point, no single perspective is sufficient to reveal the entire pattern (Leonard-Barton, 1990). Triangulation involves the use of multiple data collection methods (Benbasat et al., 1987; Neuman, 2003) and sources of data (Taylor & Bogdan, 1984; Yin, 2003). It allows the researcher to look at a phenomenon from several angles or perceptions, to secure an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon and address a broader range of issues (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Neuman, 2003; Yin, 2003).

In this study, triangulation was achieved in two ways. Firstly, through multiple data collection methods, such as interviews and documentations. Secondly, by gathering data from multiple sources of data, namely the 13 stakeholders interviewed, to obtain a holistic picture of the ES project. The 13 stakeholders selected, randomly where possible, represented eight of the key stakeholders involved in the project (see Table 9). The interview transcripts and documents were then analyzed separately, before being compared to ensure that the data converged on a similar set of facts.

Stakeholder	Official	Years of experience	Duration of involvement	No.	Remarks
	appointment in	in current	in project (Between	interviewed	
	university	appointment	Mar to Aug 2003)		
Steering	MIS Manager	4 years	6 months	1	2 of the 4 committee members were selected.
committee	(HRD)				
	IS Manager (HCD)	8 years	6 months	1	
Project	IS staff (HRD)	2 years (in HRD)	6 months	1	Only 1 PM (Lead) in the project.
Manager					
(Lead)					
Project	Assistant manager	2 months	6 months	1	Only 1 PM (User) in the project.
Manager (User)	(HRD)				
User Lead	Leave manager	10 years	6 months	1	Only 1 User Lead in the project.
	(HRD)				
HRD-Users	Leave officer	4 years	6 months	1	2 out of the 5 leave officers were randomly
	(HRD)	4 years	6 months	1	selected.
					Support staff was not interviewed as they were
					represented by the leave officers.

HRD-IT	IS staff (HRD)	2 years (in HRD)	6 months	1	Only 1 HRD-IT in the project.
Computer	IS Manager (HCD)	8 years	6 months	1	Not involved much in the initial phases, so only 1
Department					manager was randomly interviewed.
(HCD)					
University	Administrative	3 years	1/2 day	1	Randomly selected from three departments/
Staff	officer	5 years	1/2 day	1	faculties.
		4 years	1/2 day	1	-
		5 ½ years	1/2 day	1	-
SAP Lead	External SAP	8 years	6 months	0	Only 1 SAP-LC in the project.
Consultant	consultant				
Development	IS staff	Nil	2 months	0	Not involved in the initial phases of the project.
Team					
Policy Makers	Top management	Nil	Nil	0	Not directly involved in the project.
TOTAL NO OF	INTERVIEWEES:			13	

Table 9: Details of Stakeholders Interviewed

A large amount of data was collected from these sources and all of it was potentially important. To manage this data, the researcher used a case study database. This database contained the case study notes from the interviews, a reflective journal of his observations and document analysis, and the documents relevant to the case.

Several steps were taken to ensure the reliability and validity of the data collected. Firstly, the case study database, coupled with the pre-defined case study protocol, helped ensure the reliability of this study, as it enables another researcher to carry out a similar study in a consistent manner.

Next, the researcher sought to ensure the validity of this study in several ways. The multiple sources of evidence yielded similar results, thus making the findings more convincing and accurate, which contributed to the convergent validity of the study. The convergence of the multiple sources of evidence also supported the accuracy of the measures of the study. In addition, the researcher got the respective informants to review the factual data collected. This contributed to the construct validity of this study.

3.4 Data Analysis

Having gathered the data, the next step was to analyze it. Data analysis consists of examining, categorizing, tabulating, testing or otherwise recombining quantitative or qualitative evidence to address the initial research questions of a study (Yin, 2003). This is an ongoing process that goes hand-in-hand with data collection, although it is only when all the evidence is in that the researcher mostly concentrates on the data analysis

and interpretation (Taylor & Bogdan, 1984). The analysis of the case data depends heavily of the integrative powers of the researcher (Benbasat et al., 1987). Fortunately, the researcher had some prior experience in data analysis, which he picked up during a series of focus groups he conducted in 2002.

The coding process was used to analyze the data collected. Coding is a systematic way of developing and refining interpretations of data by organizing it into conceptual categories (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Neuman, 2003; Taylor & Bogdan, 1984). In particular, the coding process of thematic analysis was employed. Thematic analysis moves through three phases of inquiry from recognizing or seeing an important theme, to encoding it, to interpreting it (Boyatzis, 1998).

The first step in this process is the identification of themes. Themes are abstract constructs that investigators identify before, during and after data collection (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000). In this study, each interview transcript and document was analyzed separately, to identify key statements or comments and assign a label to categorize each piece of data. Wherever possible, similar statements or comments were combined under the same label. These labels were then combined into a single list. Again, wherever possible, data from similar categories were grouped together under the same label.

The next step was to find relationships among these labels. To do this, the researcher used clustering, where the multiple themes are organized into groups (Boyatzis, 1998; Neuman, 2003). The researcher also sought links between the themes within and between

groups (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000). In the end, the researcher came up with 15 labels, which were divided into four groups (see Table 10). An example of this three-step thematic process is given in Appendix B.

Theme	Sub-theme
Stakeholder characteristics	- Authority
	- Ownership
	- Domain knowledge
	- Control of key resources
	- Special requirements
	- Value of contribution
Project stakeholders consolidation	- Have a good mix
	- Build on existing working relationship
Inter-stakeholder relationships	- Clarify initial project guidelines
	- Keep everyone updated
	- Involve stakeholders in decision-making
	- Conflict resolution
Inter-stakeholder knowledge sharing	- Formal lines of communication
	- Informal lines of communication
	- Use IT to support interactions

Table 10: Results of Thematic Analysis of Case Study
As with data collection, reliability is critical in thematic analysis (Boyatzis, 1998). The researcher sought to ensure test-retest reliability by conducting thematic analysis on three occasions. Firstly, during the data collection process on each new transcript or document collected. In this way, the researcher could ensure that the data collected was consistent. When discrepancies arose, he checked with the data source on whether it was an anomaly or truly a new piece of information, and modified the study accordingly.

The second session was conducted when most of the data had been collected, to identify a set of themes for preliminary analysis. The final session was conducted once all the data had been collected to identify the final set of themes for analysis. Consequently, the researcher could monitor that the themes collected were consistent in each session. This also allowed the researcher to ensure that his judgement in developing these themes was consistent at different times and settings, thus ensuring test-retest reliability.

The researcher further sought to ensure reliability by compiling a codebook, which is an organized list of the codes used during the thematic analysis process (Boyatzis, 1998; Denzin & Lincoln, 2000). These codes were developed and refined during each of the thematic analysis sessions to ensure consistency in identifying the themes in each session. Each code consists of a label, a definition of what it concerns, a description of how to identify the theme, a description of any qualifications or exclusions to the identification of the theme, and positive and negative examples to eliminate possible confusion. A sample consisting of two of these codes is included in Appendix C.

3.5 Summary

A qualitative, interpretive approach to this study was chosen, as it supported a subjective study of the stakeholders involved in ES projects, thus helping the researcher to understand the meanings that they assigned to the world around them, and how this affected their actions. The case study methodology was chosen as it enabled the capturing of the nuance and complexity of the social situation, especially since the focus was on how and why questions, and contemporary events, and the researcher had no control over the phenomenon. Considering the unit of analysis of the study, desired characteristics of the site and nature of the topic, a university was selected as the ideal site for the study.

During data collection, triangulation of data methods was achieved as data was collected from secondary documentation and interviews, while triangulation of data sources was achieved as 13 people representing eight of the eleven stakeholder groups were interviewed to provide a holistic view of the phenomenon. The reliability of the process was ensured using a case study database and pre-defined case study protocol. Its validity was ensured by the use of multiple sources of evidence that converged on a similar set of data, and the involvement of informants in reviewing the factual data collected.

Thematic analysis was employed during the data analysis stage of the study to identify the themes embedded in the data collected, to organize these themes into common groups, and to find relationships among these themes. Reliability of the analysis process was ensured by conducting thematic analysis on the data on three separate occasions to ensure test-retest reliability, and by the compilation of a codebook.

Chapter 4

Case Description

4.1 Introduction

The university under study has over 30,000 students and about 6,000 staff. The university first adopted Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) in the form of SAP systems in 1992. Since then, it initiated several SAP projects, each taking the university one step closer towards its grand design of having a university-wide network of SAP systems.

This study examines the university's Human Resources Department (HRD)'s SAP project to support their university-wide staff leave system, the SAP Time Management (TM) module, which was initiated in March 2003. This is their second SAP project after their SAP Personnel Administration (PA) project in 2001.

This study begins with an overview of the history of ERP implementation in this university. From there, it takes a look at the proposed TM module. Next, it identifies all the stakeholders involved in this project. Finally, it describes the project life cycle (in particular the planning and requirements gathering phases of this project) and the importance of the stakeholders and their relationships during these two phases.

4.2 SAP Implementation Background in the University

The university first adopted the SAP R/2 system in 1992 using mainframe with help from SAP and IBM. This marked the start of the university's migration from its in-house developed COBOL-based financial systems to SAP. A key reason was SAP R/2's functionalities and benefits to users, especially the savings in resources spent on manually generating reports.

Following the success of the SAP R/2 system, the university upgraded to the SAP R/3 system release 2.2B in 1994, taking advantage of client/server technology, while working with HP Services as their implementation partner. The system provided greater transparency, up-to-date information, easy data access, full shared data storage integration, and a user friendly and intuitive graphical interface that gave users greater flexibility and control. This freed up the university's Computer Department (HCD) staff for more strategic work such as security enhancement.

In 1998, the university upgraded to the SAP R/3 system release 3.1H and implemented new modules to improve the university's business processes and to ensure Y2K compliance. In 1999, the university moved to the SAP R/3 system release 4.0B and later, 4.6A, and added other new financial modules. KPMG was involved in the implementation. Consequently, accounts were changed to meet departmental needs, the number of modifications was reduced, and process flow was streamlined.

The university upgraded to the new SAP R/3 system release 4.6B in 2000 and implemented additional modules. During the implementation, the university hired an experienced contract programmer to aid in writing the reports to meet the tight schedule. The Material Management module then went live in May 2000, increasing the efficiency of the university's purchasing procedure.

In 2001, the SAP R/3 Human Resource system was implemented, incorporating among others, the Personnel Administration (PA) module. SAP assisted in this implementation. However, the local address format was not supported by that version of SAP. To overcome this limitation, the university upgraded to release 4.6C in September 2001. Also in 2001, SAP were contracted to develop the SAP Business Warehouse (BW) module and implement the department's meta-data repository. With more participation and having prior SAP knowledge, the IT staff benefited from the knowledge transfer session from the consultant. With these experiences gained, the IT staff was able to work more independently in creating the meta-data depository for HRD.

In 2002, SAP suggested that the university install the SAP Portal 5.0 system and flew in a consultant from Germany to assist in the implementation. The portal was launched in 2002. As the product was new, subsequent support was heavily dependent on SAP consultants. Concurrently, the university's BW system release 2.1C was launched in 2002 to support the university's Finance Department (HFD). This was followed by an upgrade to SAP BW 3.0B in 2003 for its greater range of reporting capabilities and to support HRD. Finally, in March 2003, HRD began work on its new SAP Time Management

module. Simultaneously, the university was asked not to do any extensive customization or modifications to the system as future upgrades may override the changes and impact the operations.

Year	SAP Release	SAP Module	Vendor
1992	SAP R/2	Financial/Controlling, Assets Management	SAP, IBM
1994	SAP R/3 2.2B	Financial, Assets Management	HP Services,
			SAP
1998	SAP R/3 3.1H	Financial	SAP
1999	SAP R/3 4.0B	New Chart of Accounts, Project Systems,	KPMG
	SAP R/3 4.6A	Material Management	
2000	SAP R/3 4.6B	Funds Management, Treasury	KPMG
2001	SAP R/3 4.6C	Human Resources (Personnel Administration,	SAP, Origin
		Organizational Management, Funds and	
		Position Management, Payroll)	
2002	SAP BW 2.1C	Business Warehouse (Finance), SAP Portal	SAP
	SAP Portal 5.0		
2003	SAP BW 3.0B	Business Warehouse,	SAP,
	(HR)	Human Resources (Time Management)	Diagonal

Table 11: SAP Implementation Timeline in the University

4.3 The SAP Time Management (TM) Module

4.3.1 Deciding on the TM Module

This study focuses on HRD's implementation of the SAP TM module. According to their web site, HRD offers the following services; the formulation, development and implementation of HR policies, procedures and practices, support and advice on recruitment, appointment, continued employment, promotion, and terms and conditions of service, and the training and development of staff. HRD caters to two groups of staff in the university; academic and non-academic staff.

In 2000, as part of their grand plan for the university's migration to SAP, HCD saw a need for HRD to start migrating its legacy systems to SAP. This was bolstered by the fact that HFD was already using SAP and was looking to move their existing payroll system, which was linked to HRD's Oracle-based personnel administration system, to SAP as well. HRD concurred and phase one of the migration was completed in February 2001 with the implementation of the SAP PA system. As HRD was new to SAP, it took some getting used to, as it was drastically different from their more familiar Oracle system. It was however a necessary process as they knew that more SAP modules would follow. As a project team member explained:

"When the decision was made to move our main HR system to SAP, it was logical that the rest should follow. They are all so linked together" Also, once the project was completed in 2001, a team of IT staff from HCD was seconded in HRD to manage the PA and other HRD systems. This was welcomed by HRD, as highlighted by one of their staff:

"Having the IT staff seconded in HRD gives HRD greater autonomy, as they can give HRD staff dedicated service."

After SAP PA was implemented, they assessed which module to implement next. HRD's MIS Manager discussed the issue with the HRD Director and the SAP consultants were brought in to brief them on the available options. SAP TM was chosen, as it's only pre-requisite was the PA system, and HRD's business rules for leave were quite stable.

Between the end of 2002 to early 2003, HRD spearheaded a feasibility study, with help from SAP, on whether the existing system and leave rules could be mapped to SAP. This feasibility study was later used as the first cut for the Business Blueprint phase of the project. Feedback was also sought from the HRD-Users and User Lead during this study to ensure that they were comfortable with the proposal before a decision was made.

HCD would facilitate the software and hardware maintenance of the system, while HRD, in particular the HRD-Users and User Lead, maintained ownership of the system. This was not unique in the university with other departments engaged in similar situations, as it was felt that this gave these departments greater control over their own IT resources.

4.3.2 Overview of the TM Project

The aim of the TM project was to migrate HRD's three Oracle leave systems to SAP. The Oracle-based systems were limited, with the bulk of it being a manual system based heavily on hardcopy applications. It was mostly used for recording purposes and incorporated few operations or business rules, as these were handled separately, sometimes manually. The new system facilitated a more paperless environment, giving greater control and onus on the leave applicant. The system also included various Employee Self-Service (ESS) leave services (e.g. View of Leave History, View of Staff Availability and View of Leave Application Status).

The scope of the system was huge. There were many different leave types, ranging from vacation leave, to medical leave, to absence due to official business and for academic purposes. The strategy was thus to implement the system in phases. The most critical type of leave was the vacation leave and its related leave types, which affected the general University Staff. It would thus be implemented first and rolled out by January 2004 in Phase A of the project. During this phase, various basic services for vacation leave would also be provided on the university's ESS portal.

The other leave types would be implemented in Phase B from January to June 2004, which would be managed separately from Phase A. The remaining ESS portal-related services would also be provided during this phase. Phase A would last about ten months, excluding the Go-Live phase (see Figure 8). The advantages of the January 2004 Go-Live date were twofold. Firstly, the annual batch update program between SAP and Oracle

could be done in parallel. Secondly, the data for these leave types could begin fresh without having to depend on the previous year's data.



Figure 8: Timeline of the TM Project

Unlike past projects, this project team would manage the TM project with only support and advice from the SAP consultant. This approach would greatly maximize the university's control of the project implementation and knowledge transfer, while allowing their internal IT staff to gain valuable experience in project management. The move to manage the project in-house where possible was also partially motivated by a desire to minimize costs. Implementation costs were reduced with the project team staffed primarily by university employees, and maintenance costs dropped since the team could manage the post-implementation phase without additional support. The team also adhered to a no-modification strategy to ease the implementation process and prevent potential future complications during upgrading. As a project member elaborated:

"Whenever possible, work-around solutions should be considered rather than modifying the SAP R/3 source code to suit existing business processes."

4.4 Stakeholders of the TM Project

4.4.1 Project Management Team

HRD considered this project to be one of high priority, and staffed their project team with users and decision-makers who were motivated, supportive, dedicated and empowered to make decisions promptly. Leads were assigned to each section (i.e. IT, users, and consultants) to liaise with the Project Managers to facilitate the communication between the stakeholders (see Figure 9).



Figure 9: Structure of Project Team

4.4.1.1 Steering Committee

At the helm of the team was the Steering Committee. It comprised of five people; the Director of HRD, Director of HCD, HRD's MIS Manager, a Manager from HCD, and a

representative from SAP. The SAP representative in the committee played a minor role, and mainly sat in on their meetings to keep abreast of the project's progress.

The committee, in particular the four members from the university, were the primary source of information on the university's long-term goals and vision. Their defined roles include setting the priorities, giving the project team direction, approving the project scope, resolving issues that were escalated to them, arbitrating cross-departmental issues, and promoting the project throughout the university. Other responsibilities included the commitment of required resources to the project, monitoring the progress and organizational impact of the project, empowering the team to make decisions, generating timely decisions, and supporting the Project Managers. Where necessary, they even contributed their own inputs as well.

4.4.1.2 **Project Managers**

They were two Project Managers, one from HRD's IT team and one from amongst HRD's administrative staff. Overseeing them was HRD's MIS Manager, who also sat on the Steering Committee. He was given this responsibility as the project came under the auspices of the MIS division in HRD. Moreover, he had prior experience from serving as the Project Manager (User) and User Lead for the SAP PA project. In essence, he was the project champion for the TM project.

The Project Managers were responsible for the project schedule, overall project planning, managing the project resources, conducting periodic status meetings, and reporting to the Steering Committee. They had primary ownership of the project deliverables, and provided the day-to-day directions to the rest of the team. They worked closely with one another and molded the team into a cohesive unit.

The Project Manager (Lead)'s primary responsibilities included managing the overall project implementation process, scheduling and planning for the project, managing and assigning project resources, conducting status meetings with the project team, chairing meetings and discussions, reporting to the Steering Committee, and acting as the project librarian. He planned and decided how the above would be done.

The Project Manager (User)'s primary responsibilities included coordinating between Project Manager (Lead), HRD-IT and HRD-Users, participating and managing the resources, activities and schedules of the HRD-Users, managing and planning user tasks, and serving as the assistant project librarian. He also monitored the progress of the HRD-Users and ensured that they did what they were supposed to do, and the HRD-IT got what they required from them on time. In a way, he was a cross between a user and IT staff, and liaised between them. As one member put it:

"I see him as managing the resources on the side of the user, [and] doing all the coordination between the IT and the users."

4.4.1.3 User Lead

The User Lead led the HRD-Users and was the manager-in-charge of leave matters in HRD. His job scope for this project involved determining user needs and how they could be addressed most efficiently, and coordinating the HRD-Users's efforts. He had several leave officers and support staff under him who dealt with the different kinds of leave.

4.4.1.4 HRD-Users

The Human Resources Department's Users (HRD-Users) are the process owners of this system. They operationally handled the leave at HRD and determined the requirements for the new SAP TM system. There were quite a number of them. Immediately below the User Lead were five leave officers; three overseeing academic staff leave matters, one for non-academic staff leave matters, and one for administrative staff leave matters. Then were the MSOs, or support staff, who handled the actual operational leave matters, such as data entry and so on.

They provided and validated the HR business requirements, were involved in various project activities, and signed off the blueprint and acceptance of the system. Their primary responsibilities included full-time participation in the blueprint workshops to provide the necessary information concerning business policies and processes, clarification of any queries that arose during the business blueprint design, and finalization and confirmation of the blueprint business processes.

4.4.1.5 HRD-IT

The Human Resources Department's IT Team (HRD-IT) worked with the SAP-LC, HRD-Users, Development Team, and HCD-IT in carrying out their designated tasks. The HRD-IT team consisted of the HRD IT staff in charge of the Oracle leave system and the Project Manager (Lead). They configured and developed the TM module, making sure that the specifications desired by the HRD-Users were in line with the existing system design, in terms of the business rules and so on.

Their primary responsibilities included working with the SAP-LC to co-organize and conduct the business blueprint workshop, co-perform the systems configuration, co-create the functional specifications for the Development Team, lead the Development Team, assess the user requirements, and clarify the HRD-Users' doubts or conflicts with the system capabilities.

4.4.1.6 SAP Lead Consultant (SAP-LC)

In addition to the SAP representative on the Steering Committee, there was a second SAP representative who served as the SAP Lead Consultant (SAP-LC) for the project. He was brought in about a week or two after the project kick-off. The SAP-LC assisted the project management team in project planning and implementation.

The SAP-LC's primary focus was the implementation experience sharing and active knowledge transfer to the HRD-IT and HCD-IT. The SAP-LC had to ensure that the project team was properly guided to minimize "trial and error", the steep learning curve,

and the risk of major configuration errors, which could lead to rework. This was augmented by having the project team actively involved in designing the solution and taking ownership of the solution. It also eliminated the need for knowledge transfer at the end of the project. The role of the consultant in this project was decidedly different from their role in the SAP PA project and other university SAP projects.

4.4.1.7 Computer Department

The HCD staff consisted of the IT staff (HCD-IT) and support staff. The HCD-IT in this project provided any additional support required for the project, such as performing relevant system, database, network and authorization administration, as well as for the system's integration with the university's ESS portal and it's workflow management. In particular, the ESS portal staff was heavily involved in the project from the Realization phase onwards, while the BASIS team was marginally involved in the initial phases as they authorized the HRD team to use HCD's development system. The data administrators and support staff were only marginally involved in the project, and were only activated towards the end of the project. Finally, the support staff would only be activated during the Go-Live phase, and be tasked with manning the help desk to answer any general queries from the university population.

4.4.1.8 Development Team

The Development Team comprised of two contract programmers hired for this project. They were contracted by HCD but were assigned to work on the TM project. Their role was to handle general development requests, such as developing and maintaining interfaces, data migration programs, workflow templates for the HR applications, reports that were not supported by the standard SAP, and the batch program.

4.4.2 Other Stakeholders

4.4.2.1 Policy Makers

One important stakeholder group, which was not an official part of the project team, was the Policy Makers. These were the top brass in the university who were tasked with the overall governance of the university and were specifically involved in updating the policies pertaining to leave matters.

4.4.2.2 University Staff

Another group that was not an official part of the project team was the staff of the university who would eventually use this system. This group consisted of the academic and non-academic staff (i.e. from the Management Support Officers to the gardeners) of the university. They came from both the faculties and university departments.

4.5 Project Life Cycle

The project team followed the ASAP methodology for the project. However, for reasons highlighted in section 2.1.4, this study employs a six-step ES project life cycle (see Table 5) to describe the activities and stakeholders involved during the duration of this project (see Table 12), particularly during the first two phases of the project.

Phase		Activities		Stakeholders	
1. Project		-	Prepare high-level project plan	-	Steering committee
Preparat	ion	-	Internal review of project plan	-	Project Manager (Lead)
(5 th Mar	2003 -	-	External review of project plan	-	Project Manager (User)
23 rd Mar	2003)	-	Finalize and approve project	-	User Lead
			plan	-	HRD-Users
		-	Executive Kick-Off	-	HRD-IT
		-	Finalize project team	-	SAP-LC
				-	Policy Makers
2. Business	5	-	Project team training	-	Steering committee
Blueprin	ıt	-	Requirements gathering for	-	Project Manager (Lead)
(24 th Ma	r 2003 –		HRD-Users	-	Project Manager (User)
26 th Apr	2003)	-	Requirements gathering for	-	User Lead
			University Staff	-	HRD-Users
		-	Requirements gathering for	-	HRD-IT
			other university SAP owners	-	SAP-LC
		-	Produce business blueprint	-	HCD-IT
		-	Review and sign-off business	-	Policy Makers
			blueprint	-	University Staff
3. Realizat	ion	-	Produce and review design	-	Steering committee
(27 th Ap	r 2003 –		specifications for configuration	-	Project Manager (Lead)
19 th Oct	2003)		and program specifications	-	Project Manager (User)
		-	Configuration of business	-	User Lead

	processes	- HRD-Users
	- Development of reports	- HRD-IT
	- Initial review and testing of	- SAP-LC
	configured business processes	- HCD-IT
	- Go-live check	- Development Team
		- Policy Makers
4. Final Preparation	- Final testing	- Steering committee
(20 th Oct 2003 –	- End-user training	- Project Manager (Lead)
18 th Jan 2004)	- Prepare production	- Project Manager (User)
	environment	- User Lead
	- Data migration to production	- HRD-Users
	environment	- HRD-IT
	- Role-user assignment	- SAP-LC
	- Parallel run of Oracle and SAP	- HCD-IT
	systems	- Development Team
	- Approve system and	- Policy Makers
	organizational readiness to go-	- University Staff
	live	
	- Create go-live strategy	
5. Go-Live and	- Review and refine system	- Steering committee
Support	- Setup help desk	- Project Manager (Lead)
(19 th Jan 2004		- Project Manager (User)
onwards)		- User Lead

		-	HRD-Users
		-	HRD-IT
		-	SAP-LC
		-	HCD-IT & Support Staff
		-	Policy Makers
		-	University Staff
6. Post-	- Continuous business	-	User Lead
Implementation	improvement	-	HRD-Users
	- Technology upgrading	-	HRD-IT
	- Additional end-user skill	-	HCD-IT & Support Staff
	training	-	Policy Makers
		-	University Staff

Table 12: Activities and Stakeholders during the TM Project Life Cycle

4.5.1 Project Preparation Phase

4.5.1.1 Activities during this Phase

The first phase was the Project Preparation phase. The first step was the preparation of the high-level project plan. It was produced by the Project Manager (Lead) with some help from the HRD-IT. It covered the project organization structure, roles and responsibilities of the team members, deliverables, implementation strategy, work plan, assumptions and critical success factors. Preparation began in January 2003 because as one member explained:

"So when March came.....it's basically about 80% ready. So that means the planning stage would be much easier because our documents were already there."

This Project Manager (Lead) then facilitated the review of the plan internally by the HRD-IT, User Lead and HRD-Users, and externally by SAP. The plan was then approved by the MIS Manager before it was officially finalized by the Steering Committee. During this phase, the project team was also finalized by the Steering Committee.

The project was officially started with an Executive Kick-off in March 2003, where the Project Manager (Lead) presented the plan to the audience, which included the project team, SAP consultants, Steering Committee, process owners and other key university members. This official kick-off highlighted the importance of the project to the university's overall business goals and commitment of the executive team to the project.

4.5.1.2 Importance of Stakeholders during this Phase

The stakeholders of this project were either of high, medium or low importance during this phase. Due to the university-level appointments of the Steering Committee members, their authority in the university, experience and knowledge of the general direction and policies of the university, the committee was considered one of the most important stakeholders in this phase. They approved the project plan and project team, gave the green light for the project kick-off and generally retained the final say on what would take place. As one member of the project team pointed out:

"I think the Steering Committee is an [important group]. I think whatever suggestion they put in, we definitely have to consider very thoroughly. Because the Steering Committee also has contact with the Policy Makers, so they will know the direction and what is best for the university."

The Project Manager (Lead) was also of relatively high importance during this phase, as he was heavily involved in coming up with the project plan and the direction on what needed to be done, as well as spearheading the move to get the plan approved by the Steering Committee, and presenting the final version at the Executive Kick-Off.

Next, there were five stakeholders who were seen to be of medium importance during this phase of the project. The User Lead and HRD-Users were seen to be of medium importance as they had been originally consulted on the usefulness of the SAP TM module to replace the Oracle system before the decision was even made to go ahead with the project. Consequently, they were also involved in contributing to the preparation of the project plan. As for the HRD-IT, they were considered the resident IT experts for this project. Thus, they were also seen as moderately important at this phase and they too helped to develop the project plan.

The role of the SAP-LC in this phase was to advise on the preparation of the project plan, though it was still left up to the project team to decide whether or not to accept his advice. He was also not involved in the actual project management planning matters, contrary to past projects. One team member explained the rationale for this change:

"The IT staff will suffer because when you're not involved in the project, then suddenly [when] the whole thing is finished, they dump it to them and tell them in a few days what has been done. They're not able to carry on because they did not physically develop it."

Even though the Policy Makers were not an official part of this project, they still held some sway over the project team due to their position in the university hierarchy, thus explaining their moderate importance. Anything that they decided at any time that needed to be changed had to take priority. As one member of the project team pointed out:

"You cannot say that policy cannot be implemented because the system cannot support it. Such things won't be acceptable. It has to be that way So I think it's something that we can't have major influence on."

Finally, there were four stakeholders who were seen as having minimal, or low, importance as this phase of the project. Firstly, there is the Project Manager (User). He officially joined the project team just before the Executive Kick-off, so other than helping the Project Manager (Lead) to prepare for Executive Kick-off, he was not actively

involved in this phase. Similarly, the Development Team had not yet come on board at this point, so they too were not important during this phase.

As for the University Staff, they were less important at this juncture as the project team was dealing with high-level management matters, which did not involved them. Finally, although the system would reside at HCD, they had little power over the project management as HRD owned the system. Thus, they were not involved in this phase.

4.5.1.3 Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during this Phase

There are very few inter-relationships between stakeholders during this phase of the project (see Figure 10). The primary relationship is between the two key stakeholders, the Steering Committee and Project Manager (Lead). There are also secondary relationships amongst the Project Manager (Lead), User Lead and HRD-Users, between the Project Manager (Lead) and the SAP-LC, and between the User Lead and Policy Makers. Finally, there were minor relationships between the HRD-IT and User Lead, HRD-IT and HRD-Users, and Project Manager (Lead) and Project Manager (User).

During this phase, the Steering Committee met for the Executive Kick-Off, where they also endorsed the project. Generally, they only made decisions after gathering feedback from relevant stakeholders via the Project Manager (Lead). Likewise, the decisions they handed down to the project team, though final, were flexible enough to allow the team the leeway to work out the details on how to proceed.



Figure 10: Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during the Project Preparation Phase

In general, the committee's only point of contact with the project team was through the Project Manager (Lead). Although the SAP-LC, HRD-IT and User Lead sat in on these meetings, their role there was mainly to support the Project Manager (Lead) or answer any queries that pertain specifically to their role in the project.

Although the HRD Director, who was on the Steering Committee, was also involved in changing leave policies, his role in the committee was not to convey directives governing leave policy changes to the project team. Instead, it was the User Lead who served as the contact point with the Policy Makers, and in the event of leave policy changes, dealt with the repercussions by working with the Project Manager (Lead) and the project team.

The Project Manager (Lead) developed the project plan. Generally, the User Lead and HRD-Users had their own internal meetings to work out their schedule and what should be covered in the project. Then, they met with the Project Manager (Lead) to review the project plan and the best way to go ahead with the proposed project. The Project Manager (Lead) would then draw up the final project plan, and it would be reviewed by the HRD-IT, User Lead and HRD-Users.

Likewise, the Project Manager (Lead) interacted with the SAP-LC to get an external review of the project plan, and work out the resources required for the project, timeline, project milestones and so on. During this time, the SAP-LC worked full-time on the project whenever he was requested for the day, and was not supposed to spend that time on any other projects that he had. Though the SAP-LC did interact with HCD prior to the project to work out his contract details, since then he has worked with the project team and not had to deal with them again.

4.5.2 Business Blueprint Phase

4.5.2.1 Activities during this Phase

The next phase was the Business Blueprint phase. The first step in this phase was the two-part essential training provided by the SAP Lead Consultant (SAP-LC) for the project team. The first part was for the HRD-Users, covering a one-day introduction to the module. The second part was technically oriented for the IT team and covered three-days on the configuration of the module, one-day on the configuration of ESS, and two-days on the workflow. As one project member put it:

"The project team training was the first thing done. This was to ensure that everyone was on the same wavelength."

The business blueprint facilitated understanding of the university's business goals and determined the business processes required to support these goals. The report from the pre-project feasibility study was used as the first cut for the blueprint. More detailed requirements were discussed during separate workshops for each business process. These sessions were coordinated by the two Project Managers, in particular the Project Manager (User), who worked with the HRD-IT and User Lead to iron out the details from these meetings. These requirements gathering sessions were not just an exercise in getting input from various groups, such as the HRD-Users, HRD PA Users and University Staff. More importantly, they were an avenue for discussion to garner support and consensus on the way things should be done. As a project team member elaborated:

"It's not just [about] gathering feedback. We still, at the end of it, have to feedback to them what we're going to do about their feedback, and explain to them the rationale why certain things cannot be done."

Within HRD, separate requirements gathering sessions were held for the TM module, reporting and authorization functions. In each session, the Project Manager (Lead) led the discussion, with the HRD-Users and User Lead contributing their requirements, while the HRD-IT consolidated and analyzed the requirements with the help of the SAP-LC. The Project Manager (User) was also involved in these sessions. For the general requirements gathering, discussions were also held with the HCD BASIS Team to ensure that the existing architecture was sufficient to support the requirements and to get authorization for the team to use their development system.

The SAP-LC and HRD-IT then developed the detailed business blueprint document, which was reviewed by the HRD-Users. The Project Manager (User) aided the Project Manager (Lead) in ensuring that the document was reviewed in a timely manner and properly signed off. The Project Manager (User) also helped to review the document himself. Finally, the Project Managers, SAP-LC, HRD-IT and User Lead cooperated to ensure that the outputs from this phase were ready as input for the next phase.

4.5.2.2 Importance of Stakeholders during this Phase

This time around, it was the User Lead and HRD-Users who were the most important stakeholders. The User Lead was particularly important during the second phase of the

project as he not only contributed to the requirements for the new system, but also coordinated his staff's contributions as well. As for his staff, the leave officers were involved in every stage of the requirements gathering, while the MSOs were mainly involved at select moments, as and when it pertained to their specific operational duties. One project team member explained why they were seen as so important at this phase:

"They are using it everyday. I mean, the system is meant to help them. If they don't use it, they don't like it, it really defeats the purpose of developing the system. It's really meant to help them so it must serve that purpose. So that's why I think they are very important."

In this phase, there are six stakeholders deemed to be of medium importance. Although both the Project Managers were involved in coordinating the necessary requirements gathering sessions, they played a secondary role to the HRD-Users and User Lead who were the focus of these sessions. As for the HRD-IT, again, they were seen as the resident IT experts for this project, and they helped to determine the limitations of the system, and ascertained what it could and could not do. As a project team member noted:

"Whether technically it can be done or not, they are the ones who have to assess and finally tell you whether it can be done, or maybe it can be done with more effort, and if they are going to do it. They hold that power in that sense." The SAP-LC's role as an advisor in this phase was similar to his role in the last phase, albeit more frequent and intensive. Again, it was up to the project team to decide whether or not to accept his advice, and again, he was not involved in the actual project management planning matters. The Policy Makers too were in the same position as in the last phase. Though not officially involved in the project, they still held some sway due to the ever looming possibility that they could initiate changes to the leave policies.

Finally, the University Staff played a slightly more important role in this phase as compared to the last, as they were involved in several rounds of requirements gathering, so that the project team could garner their input and update them on the proposed system. The only reason why they were not seen to be as important as the HRD-Users in this aspect is that only a select group of representatives from select faculties and departments were involved in these sessions. One team member rationalized this selection process:

"We couldn't possibly talk to every department so we gathered feedback from selected departments. Especially those that we currently know that have additional requirements that our current system couldn't cater for. Or those departments that we know that at certain points in time have raised certain requirements."

That leaves three stakeholders who have less importance in this phase compared to the rest. The Steering Committee is of lower importance, as although they receive updates on the progress of the project from the Project Manager (Lead) at committee meetings, they

are otherwise not actively involved in the project. As for the Development Team, they were again not involved in this phase, as they had not yet been brought in.

Finally, the HCD-IT is slightly more involved in the project than in the last phase. In this phase, they checked to see if the current systems could handle the needs of the TM module. HCD in general was also involved in the hiring of the contract programmers. Otherwise, the HCD-IT staff was just updated on the existence of this project and that their assistance would be needed as a later phase. As a project member put it:

"HCD they are providing the system. As far as for the requirements setting, they do not have much power over that."

4.5.2.3 Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during this Phase

In this phase, there were much more interactions between stakeholders (see Figure 11). The primary relationships in this phase was those between the User Lead, HRD-Users and HRD-IT, as the first two worked out the requirements for the proposed system, and the latter consolidated them to draw up the business blueprint.

There were a number of secondary interactions. There were secondary interactions between the Project-Manager (Lead), HRD-IT and SAP-LC to assess the feasibility of the user requirements and write up the business blueprint. There were also secondary relationships between the Project Manager (Lead), and HRD-IT and Project Manager (User), as the first two go through the Project Manager (User) to liaise with the HRD- Users and User Lead, and vice versa. There were also secondary relationships between the Project Manager (Lead) and HRD-IT, and the University Staff, in particular the IT staff, and between the User Lead and HRD-Users, and the University Staff, in particular the administrative staff. Finally, there was the secondary relationship between the User Lead and Policy Makers, as in the first phase.



Figure 11: Inter-Stakeholder Relationships during the Business Blueprint Phase

In this phase, there were several minor relationships between the stakeholders. There were relationships between the User Lead and Project Manager (Lead), and between the User Lead and SAP-LC. The SAP-LC also has minor relationships with the Project Manager (User), HRD-Users and University Staff. The Project Manager (Lead)'s relationships with the HRD-Users and User Lead were also minor, as he generally went through Project Manager (User) to interact with them. As for the University Staff, they have minor relationships with the Project Manager (User) and HCD-IT. Finally there's a minor relationship between the HCD-IT and HRD-IT.

In this phase, the Steering Committee only met when the Project Manager (Lead) initiated a meeting to update them on the progress of the project. As in the first phase, their contact with the team was via the Project Manager (Lead), although the Project Manager (User), User Lead, HRD-IT and SAP-LC did sit in on their meetings to answer any questions pertaining to their role in the project or to represent the views of other stakeholders. In general though, it is left to the Project Manger (Lead) to interact with the Steering Committee. Despite this, if the Steering Committee made any suggestions which the others deemed to be logical, they would be given priority in implementation. One project member explained:

"When the next meeting comes, then they [Steering Committee] will want to see if we have done anything. When we talk to the Steering Committee, we have to backup what we say, or they will shoot us down. So we have to be very careful when we talk to them." During this phase, the HRD MIS Manager regularly met the Project Managers to discuss project management issues and progress updates. As for the two Project Managers, there were clear distinctions in their roles, but this did not stop them from working very closely together, and at times, there were even crossovers in what they did. For example, although technically the requirements gathering sessions were to be arranged by the Project Manager (User), either manager could coordinate these meetings if necessary.

Essentially, team work and cooperation was vital to the entire team. Thus, informal lines of communication were facilitated such that, for example, it was not always necessary for the Project Manager (Lead) to go through the Project Manager (User) to interact with the User Lead or HRD-Users, he could do so directly. Ultimately, the Project Manager (Lead) is regarded as the overall project leader.

Mostly, the Project Managers interacted with the HRD-IT and User Lead during progress meetings so that the Project Manager (Lead) could be updated on the schedule and status of the project. The HRD-IT and User Lead could then hold their own internal meetings with their teams as they saw fit. Then, the Project Managers would have monthly meetings with the entire project team to update them on the project's general progress.

To facilitate their management of the project team, the Project Manager (Lead) devised a streamlined process for conflict resolution to resolve conflicts within two working days. Issues were preferably resolved within the respective groups. If it could not be resolved,

it was escalated to the Project Manager (Lead) or even to the HRD MIS Manager. Then, if they could not resolve it, it would be escalated further to the Steering Committee for resolution. Generally though, no issues were brought before the Steering Committee as the project team resolved their own problems. As one member explained:

"We tried to resolve differences by having all parties look at different perspectives and attempt to derive win-win solutions."

The Project Manager (Lead)'s interactions with the User Lead and HRD-Users were infrequent, as most of the contact was handled by the Project Manager (User). The Project Manager (User) handled the bulk of the interactions with the HRD-Users, either through the User Lead or by approaching them directly. He guided them on what they could expect and needed to do during this project, as well as liaised between them and the HRD-IT. Since he was not a specialist on leave matters though, he did not handle the actual gathering of requirements, although he did sit in the requirements gathering sessions. Similarly, he had no authority over the HRD-Users and had to go through the User Lead for that. As such, there was some degree of overlap between his role and that of the User Lead, as both dealt with the HRD-Users.

The Project Manager (Lead) has been liaising with the other member of the HRD-IT since he was officially appointed as project manager in March 2003. Since then, he would regularly seek his advice, especially on matters pertaining to documentation and the leave business rules, since the latter had experience from managing the Oracle system. Then, as

he gradually gained experience and understanding, he was able to take greater control of this aspect of his work and rely less on him.

The Project Manager (User) worked closely with the HRD-IT as well. Except for the very technical discussions, he sat in on their internal meetings. Even though he did not understand all the technical details, he still served and important role as he was the user eye to ensure that all the users' specifications were being addressed.

As in the first phase, the SAP-LC worked full-time on this project. Gradually though, his workload was reduced as the Project Manager (Lead) and HRD-IT picked up the necessary skills to work independently, with the goal of cutting down his involvement in the project to only twice a week on a part-time basis in the next phase, and eventually doing away with him altogether in the post-implementation phase. In this phase though, the SAP-LC had a very close working relationship with the Project Manager (Lead) and HRD-IT, as he taught them the ropes with regards to the technical aspects of the project and guided them during the initial steps for each part of the project. Then, as they gained more experience, they could assume greater control.

In contrast, the Project Manager (User) had little interaction with the SAP-LC outside of the meetings that they sat in on together. Even when he had a technical question, he directed it to the Project Manager (Lead) or HRD-IT instead. There were a few instances though when they did have to work together. For example, when he was configuring a
report that was new to the HRD-Users, he worked with him by acting as the user eye to ensure that the report was accurate before it was presented to the HRD-Users.

During this phase, the User Lead and HRD-Users had the most important interactions, with the Project Manager (User) sitting in on their internal meetings if time permitted and he had some relevant information to convey. Otherwise, these internal meetings were meant to help them work out their requirements for the project. It allowed them to first reach a consensus on their requirements before presenting them to the rest of the team, and in particular the HRD-IT, during formal or informal meetings. Then, they would wait for them to discuss with the SAP-LC and Project Manager (Lead) before giving them feedback. The cycle would then repeat itself until consensus was reached. As one project member put it, this was an ongoing process during this phase of the project:

"We discussed [the requirements] before we put it all in. Then we waited for them to come back and tell us what could be done and could not be done. After that, they tried to consolidate it and make some sense out of it. Then we spoke to certain groups to see whether we could further refine the requirements."

To do so, the User Lead worked very closely with the HRD-Users. On top of leading them, he was responsible for telling, motivating or initiating them to do things. His position in the organizational hierarchy as the leave manager allowed him to pull rank to get things done. In between the iterative meetings with the HRD-IT, he worked with the HRD-Users to decide whether to accept his proposals, or how they could be modified.

The User Lead in particular has a rather close working relationship with the HRD-IT, as he helps them to consolidate the requirements from the HRD-Users and other sources. He also led discussions with HRD-Users on their next course of action and conveyed these decisions to him, and vice versa. Furthermore, he helped to moderate their expectations so that they did not go out of scope by encouraging them not to force the issue when their requirements could not realistically be met. In addition, the HRD-IT also had a close working relationship with the HRD-Users. As one project member explained:

"We're just under one roof. It's so easy. The users can just go to the HRD-IT's cubicles or they could just visit them in their office if they have requirements or doubts, or by phone if it's not so urgent. It's just very informal. So they do make contact a lot."

Although the HRD-IT tried to let the HRD-Users freely define their requirements and accepted all their input, it was impossible to satisfy all the requirements. As such, their main aim was to first try and ensure that no key requirements were missed, before addressing the more peripheral ones. They also tried to add value to the requirements by making their own suggestions during meetings to either fine-tune the requirements or explain the system limitations. Generally though, they did not put forward their own ideas in isolation of the user requirements. As a team member clarified:

"If HRD-IT has any value add, of course they can bring it forward, but ultimately the users have to agree. There's no point if they suggest something that users think is not useful."

The User Lead and HRD-Users do not deal with the SAP-LC directly. Their interactions with him were mainly reserved for the requirements gathering meetings. During these meetings, the SAP-LC also only provided advice when necessary, and then only to add value to the requirements. Instead, interactions between them were through the HRD-IT.

As in the first phase, the User Lead was the only point of contact with the Policy Makers. This time, there were several policy changes that were initiated by the Policy Makers. The User Lead kept the rest of the team updated as the policy reviews were made so that when the change occurred, it did not come as a complete shock. The plan was that if these changes could not be accommodated, the team would escalate the matter to the Steering Committee for a resolution, although this was ultimately unnecessary.

The HCD-IT interacted with the HRD-IT for two purposes. Firstly, to ascertain whether the current systems and resources in HCD could handle the proposed system's requirements. Secondly, approval and assistance was needed for the hiring of the two contract programmers for the Development Team. The HCD help desk staff was not involved, as they only come into play during the Go-Live phase. Finally, the User Lead and HRD-Users organized sessions with select groups of University Staff from across the campus to gather their requirements for the system, and incorporating them into their own list of requirements to be discussed with the HRD-IT. These meetings were generally one-off half-day sessions with no follow-up afterwards although correspondence continued informally largely via e-mail or the telephone if the University Staff had more suggestions or requested feedback on the project's progress.

The two Project Managers, HRD-IT and SAP-LC sat in on these meetings, which were coordinated by the User Lead. The selected faculties and departments were chosen based on whether they had any special requirements or were using their own leave systems, to tap into their expertise in implementing and managing such systems. Even amongst these select few, only a few representatives, mainly from the administrative section, were approached. Consequently, at this phase, the bulk of the university still did not know that this system would be implemented. The team felt that it would be near impossible to try and reach out to everyone due to the sheer number of people in the university. However, one University Staff member offered a different opinion:

"I believe a feedFORWARD rather than feedback system is extremely important (though time-consuming) for buy-in to any new proposed system. The common experience is that positive feedback/suggestions are often constrained by what has already been decided prior to the information-sharing session." The HRD-IT also garnered feedback from the faculties and departments' IT staff. Again, only a few face-to-face meetings were conducted for this purpose, with the bulk of the interactions taking place via e-mail or the telephone. Meetings were also arranged between the OHR-IT, and the owners and IT support of SAP PA and HFD. Since all their systems were meant to be inter-linked, these meetings were meant to ascertain how their existing systems would be affected by the proposed system, and what could be done to minimize any potential disruptions.

4.5.3 Realization Phase

The next phase of the project would be the Realization phase. In this phase, the HRD-IT and SAP-LC will co-configure the business processes as identified in the blueprint. This will provide the maximum knowledge transfer by allowing the HRD-IT to carry out the desired configuration of business processes and fine-tuning of the system, while supported by the SAP-LC. These configured business processes will be regularly played back to the HRD-Users for confirmation. Once the system is ready, the HRD-IT will test the work schedule, workflow and batch program on a test server, while the SAP-LC will perform a Go-Live check to ensure that the system is ready to be rolled-out.

4.5.4 Final Preparation Phase

The fourth phase is the Final Preparation phase. The purpose here is to complete the final system testing, train the end-users, cut-over both the data and system to a production environment, and create a Go-Live strategy. Finally, approval is needed for the system

and readiness of the university to Go-Live. As a backup, both the Oracle and SAP systems will be run in parallel for the annual program update.

4.5.5 Go-Live and Support Phase

In the final Go-Live phase of the ASAP methodology, the system will be reviewed and refined by the university to ensure that the business environment is fully supported. This process will not only involve the verification of the accuracy of the business transactions, but also the informal interviewing of the users to verify that their needs have been met. HCD will provide a help desk that will be briefed by the project team, to further support the users as necessary. This phase lasts until "normal operations" resume.

4.5.6 Post-Implementation Phase

The final step of this project is when the university finally reaps the business benefits of the new system. This phase will take place after the project goes live, and will entail further business improvements, upgrading of the technology, and additional end-user skill training. During this phase, the project team will have been disbanded, leaving the User Lead, HRD-Users, HRD-IT, University Staff and Policy Makers involved with the system as part of the regular daily operations. This phase is not included in the ASAP methodology since the Go-Live phase marks the end of this particular project and hence the vendor's contract with the university. As such, HRD does not explicitly define the abovementioned activities as being part of a separate phase. Instead, HRD sees this as a logical continuation of the Go-Live phase, and thus treat the two phases as one.

Chapter 5

Research Findings

This study aimed to move away from a technical analysis of ES implementations and refocus our attention on the people involved in these projects. Stakeholder analysis provides a more comprehensive understanding of the role and impact of stakeholders in such projects, which then leads to more efficient management of these stakeholders to maximize their potential during the project.

5.1 Stakeholder Identification

In line with existing Stakeholder Theory models, the first step of stakeholder analysis should be the identification of the stakeholders involved in the ES project (Frooman, 1999; Wolfe & Putler, 2002). This is particularly important when analyzing ES projects as such projects involve large numbers of different groups of stakeholders from within and without the organization (Schneider, 2002). Thus, before an organization can manage its stakeholders, it must first know who the project's relevant stakeholders are. This study posits that this is a crucial step that is absent from Mitchell et al. (1997)'s model.

Relevant stakeholders should be identified so the organization can have a holistic picture of all the parties who can affect or be affected by the project. Previously, organizations focused on its shareholders, but they soon realized that "stakeholder" is not synonymous with "shareholder" (Clarkson, 1995). The focus then expanded to include other stakeholders, such as top management (Livermore & Ragowsky, 2002) and users (Kræmmergaard & Rose, 2002), but still, not all stakeholders were being identified.

Failure to identify a stakeholder, especially one who on the surface may not appear to directly affect or be affected by the project, can have potentially disruptive consequences. This was evident in the case, as the Policy Makers were not included in the project plan. However, as it turned out, they initiated several policy changes during the course of the project that affected the system and the team had to make changes accordingly. Such disruptions could have been minimized if the Policy Makers had been identified from the offset as a relevant stakeholder and were included in the project plan.

This study uncovered three areas to be addressed to facilitate the stakeholder identification process. These areas are key activities identification, relevant stakeholder involvement identification and relevant inter-relationships identification.

5.1.1 Key Activities Identification

A comprehensive list of stakeholders cannot be generated merely by focusing on only one phase of the project, as each phase is characterized by its own key players, activities, problems, metrics and outcomes (Markus & Tanis, 2000). For example, by focusing on the stakeholders involved in the Project Preparation phase of the case, only eight of the eleven stakeholders would have been identified (see Table 12). The entire project life cycle should thus be analyzed to facilitate the identification of all relevant stakeholders. However, an analysis of the entire ES project life cycle is a big task. As such, each phase should still be studied separately first, before a complete list of the stakeholders involved in the project is consolidated. The question is thus how each phase should be studied to facilitate the identification of the relevant stakeholders in that phase. As a primary difference between each phase is the activities in that phase (see Table 12), it follows that the identification of these activities is a fundamental first step towards the identification of the stakeholders in that phase.

For example, during the Project Preparation phase of the case, the key activities are highlevel tasks involving the definition of the project plan and team, which point to the involvement of top management. In comparison, during the Business Blueprint phase, the activities mainly involve requirements gathering and business blueprint development, which point to the involvement of users who can contribute these requirements.

The key activities in each phase of the project thus need to be clearly identified before the project can begin. The identification of the key activities in each phase of the projects then serves as an important benchmark towards the identification of which stakeholders are involved in that phase and how they interact with one another, which will be described in detail in the subsequent sections.

5.1.2 Relevant Stakeholder Involvement Identification

Having identified the key activities, the next step is the identification of the stakeholders involved in those activities. A common pitfall in this process is a tendency to conduct such identification solely from a single point of view, particularly from the management point of view, as was evident in Freeman (1984)'s definition of a stakeholder (Friedman & Miles, 2002; Pouloudi, 1999). This misconception that one stakeholder knows best may result in an incomplete picture in terms of the number and degree of involvement of stakeholders in the project.

For example, in the case, the University Staff did not mention the Steering Committee as being part of the project team, as there was no interaction between them, and hence they had little knowledge of the degree of involvement of the committee in the project. Thus, stakeholder identification from a single perspective could result in certain stakeholders being overlooked.

To counter this myopic view, it is recommended that stakeholders be identified based on input from all the relevant stakeholders, as each has its own views as to who other stakeholders are (Pouloudi, 1999). Furthermore, this should be pegged to the identification of stakeholders based on each activity in a given phase, to further ensure that nobody is overlooked.

For example, during the Business Blueprint phase, a subset of the University Staff identified as relevant during this phase are the other SAP owners in the university whose systems would be integrated with the TM system. They were only involved in one activity in this phase. As such, if this activity had not been identified, this particular subset of staff could have been overlooked. Consequently, the final TM system could have faced integration problems with the other existing SAP systems. Thus, there is a need for the identification of all the relevant stakeholders involved in each phase and this is only possible based on the identification of the key activities in that phase.

5.1.3 Relevant Inter-Relationships Identification

In addition to identifying the nodes of the network (i.e. the stakeholders), there is a need to simultaneously identify the links between these nodes (i.e. their relationships). As a stakeholder's actions are based on his relationship with the organization and the interaction of multiple influences from other stakeholders (Nambisan & Agarwal, 1998; Rowley, 1997), stakeholder identification should also cover these inter-relationships. Not only is it enough to identify who interacts with whom, it is also necessary to identify their degree of interaction, such as its intensity and frequency. This is important as it identifies which relationships, in addition to which stakeholders, are more deserving of attention.

There is a tendency to focus on the interactions between select pairs of stakeholders or between top management and stakeholders, as stakeholder relationships are seen as either simple dyadic pairs (Rowley, 1997) or a bicycle-wheel with the organization at the center (Mitchell et al., 1997). Such a view does not do justice to the true complexity of stakeholder relationships during ES projects (Pouloudi, 1999). For example, adopting a bicycle-wheel view during the Business Blueprint phase of the project with the Project Manager (Lead) at the center of the wheel would have resulted in the identification of seven relationships, whereas a holistic view of all the interactions between the stakeholders would have resulted in the identification of 25 relationships. In addition to the number of relationships that exist in an inter-stakeholder network, there is also a need to look at the strength of each relationship, its frequency, the extent to which the stakeholder connects to other stakeholders, and so on. These can be considered to be key determinants of the behavior of stakeholders during the project (Murphy & Chang, 2002).

For example, in the Business Blueprint phase of the case, the HRD-IT interacted with HCD, SAP-LC and HRD-Users, but these interactions varied. Their interactions with the HRD-Users were highly intense and frequent, as they gathered their requirements. Their interactions with the SAP-LC were less intense and less frequent, as they were largely advisory in nature. Finally, their interactions with HCD were minimal, as they involved ensuring that the existing systems could handle the TM module, and the hiring of the contract programmers. Thus, it would seem that faced with a choice, the HRD-IT – HRD Users relationship is more important as it pertained to a more critical aspect of the project. Such insight could not have been gained if these relationships had not been studied in-depth.

In addition to identifying the visible inter-stakeholder relationships, it is equally vital to identify absent relationships. A relationship could be absent for various reasons, such as that stakeholder is unimportant at that point in time, or interactions with him are moderated through a third-party. This level of understanding provides greater insight into the interactions between the stakeholders in the network.

For example, the only relationship between the Policy Makers and the team was via the User Lead. Thus, it behooves the team to ensure that the User Lead is capable of dealing with the Policy Makers, and more importantly, is as an effective gatekeeper of information to and from the Policy Makers that could impact the project.

5.1.4 Stakeholder Identification Model

This study proposes that a good way of identifying ES project stakeholders is by first identifying the key activities in each phase of the ES project (see Table 12). For each activity, the organization can then simultaneously identify who the stakeholders involved are and how they interact with one another. This information can then be consolidated to generate a list of the relevant stakeholders in each phase of the project (see Figure 12).



Figure 12: Stakeholder Identification Model

For example, during the Business Blueprint phase, a key activity identified was the gathering of requirements from the HRD-Users. This involved the two Project Managers,

HRD-Users, User Lead, HRD-IT and SAP-LC. The HRD-Users and User Lead's interest here was to share their knowledge on leave matters to conform the system to their needs. The HRD-IT's primary interest was to gather these requirements and translate them to system configurations. The SAP-LC's main interest was to assess the validity of the requirements and assist the HRD-IT. Finally, the Project Managers' main interest lay in facilitating this requirements gathering process. Consequently, this information also led to the identification of the degree of inter-relationships between these stakeholders.

5.2 Stakeholder Prioritization

Having identified all the relevant stakeholders of ES projects, organizations generally realize that they have to cater to numerous different stakeholders. In the case, eleven stakeholders were identified. Though organizations should aim to meet the needs of all their stakeholders, simultaneously fulfilling all the organization's responsibilities towards them is highly unlikely (Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001), especially given the limited resources available. Thus, there is a need to prioritize these stakeholders (Starik, 1994) so that the more important stakeholders can receive attention first.

The problem facing organizations and researchers here is how best to differentiate between these stakeholders. Mitchell et al. (1997) identified three characteristics, that is, power, legitimacy and urgency, to facilitate this but as explained in section 2.3, these characteristics are inadequate for stakeholder analysis of an ES implementation.

Instead, six characteristics were identified from the case that more accurately differentiated between the stakeholders of the ES project in the case. Each stakeholder possesses one or more of these characteristics. Possession of these characteristics is generally variable and can change at any time. For example, the authority of the Steering Committee may be a big factor during the Planning phase of the project when the project plan had to be approved, but is less so in the Business Blueprint phase when the focus shifted to the gathering of user requirements. Possession of these attributes is also not a simple yes or no issue. Rather, stakeholders can have different degrees of possession of the same attribute. For example, although both the HRD-Users and University Staff have knowledge on leave policies, the degree of knowledge of the HRD-Users is significantly higher as they work in HRD.

These six characteristics are divided into three pairs. The first pair concerns the legitimacy of the stakeholder and his suggestion. The remaining four characteristics concern the sources of power of the stakeholders of the ES project, with the first two characteristics, termed Level A sources of power, being those that are essential to the success of the project, and the last two, termed Level B sources of power, being supplementary characteristics that support the Level A sources. No characteristics were explicitly identified in this study with regards to urgency, as in the case, urgency was seen to be a minor issue that overlapped the above six characteristics.

5.2.1 Stakeholders' Legitimacy Characteristics

The first pair of characteristics concerns the assessment of the legitimacy of the stakeholder and his suggestion, which impacts the validity of his contributions to the project. The first characteristic is the value of the stakeholders' contributions. Past literature focused on using stakeholder attributes to differentiate between them. From the case though, one of the most important differentiating factor was in fact identified as the value of the contribution per se. Thus if two stakeholders made suggestions, the team would first assess the legitimacy or value of the suggestion itself, before deciding on which stakeholder is more important, if necessary.

Having ascertained the legitimacy of the suggestion, the next step is to ascertain the legitimacy of the stakeholder making the suggestion. This involves the degree of ownership of the system (Clarkson, 1995), which is the degree to which a particular stakeholder owns the system being implemented. This impacts more on the decision-making ability of the stakeholder on matters pertaining to the project. For example, in the case, although the TM module was running off HCD systems, HRD retained ownership of the system since they were its primary users, and hence, HRD staff led the project team and made the key project decisions.

These two characteristics are assessed independently of one another, and need to be addressed in the initial stages of stakeholder prioritization. Furthermore, although ownership of the system generally remains unchanged throughout the project, the value of the contributions can vary dramatically for each contribution made.

5.2.2 Stakeholders' Level A Sources of Power

Level A sources of power are essential to the successful operation of the project. From the case, the two Level A sources of power identified are authority and domain knowledge. Level B sources of power are supplementary sources of power that can be addressed later in the project after stakeholders possessing the Level A sources of power have been catered to.

Level A sources of power should be assessed concurrently, as it is possible for a stakeholder to have none, one or both characteristics. The first characteristic, authority, is based on the stakeholder's access to coercive, utilitarian or normative means of imposing its will in a relationship (Howard et al., 2003). An example of this is the Policy Makers. Though not directly involved in the project, their ability to change leave policies enabled them to affect the project, as the team had little choice but to try and incorporate their changes into the system. Also, in the absence of a clear team hierarchy, project members fell back on established lines of organizational authority. This was exploited in the project team design in the case, as the HRD manager in charge of leave was appointed as the User Lead since the User Lead had to oversee the HRD-Users. He was thus able to exploit his authority from his official appointment in HRD to support his role as User Lead in getting the HRD-Users to do whatever was necessary.

ES implementations require a combination of different skills and expertise to implement it successfully (Livermore & Ragowsky, 2002). Stakeholders who possess these skills and knowledge, control necessary information that can affect the outcome of the project (Coff, 1999). In the case, this was a major factor in the high level of importance of the HRD-Users during the Business Blueprint phase, as they had in-depth knowledge on leave matters, which was unavailable to the rest of the project team.

Possession of these characteristics is not a simple yes-no proposition. In actuality, stakeholders may possess either characteristic to varying degrees. For example, while both the HRD-IT and SAP-LC are classified as having domain knowledge, the HRD-IT's domain knowledge is heavily geared towards the internal IS in HRD while the SAP-LC's domain knowledge is on the SAP system.

5.2.3 Stakeholders' Level B Sources of Power

The final two characteristics are the Level B sources of power. The first characteristic is the control that a stakeholder has over resources that are necessary for the ES project, which gives them a bargaining chip. In the case, this was evident for HCD. Although HCD was not officially involved in the project until the latter phases, they were still consulted in the first phase as they approved the hiring of the contract programmers and confirmed that the TM module could be supported by the existing systems.

These issues though, were not really crucial to the implementation of the system. For example, if they decided not to hire additional programmers, it just meant more work for the existing IS staff and maybe a longer project duration, or if they felt that the current systems could not handle the load, it just meant that the system had to be streamlined. Thus, the control of resources is still less important than the Level A sources of power.

As for the special requirements, this should be catered to when fine-tuning the system to meet as many diverse needs as possible. The reason for this being a Level B source of power is because ultimately the primary features derived from the domain knowledge of the key stakeholders still need to be catered to first during the implementation of an ES project. These special requirements can then be assessed separately and only those that can be accommodated may subsequently be incorporated into the system.

As with the legitimacy characteristics, these characteristics are assessed independently of one another, and should be addressed in the final stages of stakeholder prioritization. Generally, the import of these two characteristics with respect to one another, and thus which characteristic is more important, depends on the situation. For example, the special requirements of the University Staff only become important during the requirements gathering phase and not at any other times.

5.2.4 Stakeholder Prioritization Model

In summary, the importance of a stakeholder, based on the stakeholder prioritization process, is assessed in three steps (see Figure 13):

1. The legitimacy of the stakeholder and its suggestion is assessed to ascertain whether the contribution should be considered.

- 2. If the contribution is legitimate, the importance of the stakeholder is deduced based on whether it has the above Level A sources of power.
- 3. In the event that two stakeholders have the same degree of Level A power, their degree of Level B sources of power is then used to differentiate between them.



Figure 13: Stakeholder Prioritization Model

5.3 Stakeholder Management

Understanding your stakeholders is one thing. Doing something about it is another. The emphasis of Stakeholder Theory literature has thus far been on stakeholder identification and prioritization, as was evident in the four stakeholder theories presented above. ES implementation literature in particular suffers from a big gap in terms of ways to simultaneously manage the network of stakeholders involved in such projects. There is thus a need to go beyond the identification and prioritization phases of stakeholder analysis, and focus on how organizations should manage their different stakeholders (Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001). This is a crucial phase as only by effectively acting on this knowledge of stakeholder differences can organizations better maximize their contributions during ES implementations.

Three areas from the case study were identified as important in the stakeholder management process. They are project stakeholder mix, inter-stakeholder relationships facilitation and inter-stakeholder knowledge sharing facilitation.

5.3.1 Project Stakeholder Mix

The mix of ES project stakeholders should be a balanced representation of all four stakeholder categories, namely top management, end-users, internal IS staff and external third-parties, to ensure a good combination of knowledge, skills and experience (Sarker & Lee, 2003; Staehr et al., 2002; Willcocks & Sykes, 2000). This better enables the organization to achieve alignment on the objectives of the project (Luftman et al., 1999).

This was evidently important in the case, as the project stakeholder included representatives from seven of the eleven stakeholders identified, while the other four had spokespersons (i.e. the User Lead spoke for the Policy Makers, the HRD-Users for the University Staff, and the HRD-IT for HCD and Development Team). These seven stakeholders also represented the four main stakeholder categories, and were from both within and without HRD.

Another important feature of ES project stakeholders highlighted in the case was that they should preferably be included based on existing organizational relationships to tap into the trust and working relationships between these stakeholders, which is harder to develop without a prior long-term relationship (Natovich, 2002).

For example, one member of the HRD-IT handled the existing Oracle system. Thus, he could make the most of his existing long-term relationship with the HRD-Users and their trust in his understanding of their requirements. In addition, HRD also employed the same SAP consultant as in their past project, as the consultant was familiar with the way they worked and could thus better meet their needs.

The mix of project stakeholders should also be flexible, as stakeholders are dynamic during the course of ES projects, with their roles and interactions varying according to the phase they are in (Pouloudi, 1999). This can be facilitated based on the information gleaned from the stakeholder prioritization process. To maximize its flexibility, the mix of project stakeholders should include a fixed and a variable component.

For example, the fixed component could consist of the stakeholders who manage the overall project (e.g. the Project Managers and HRD-IT), while the variable component consists of the other stakeholders who are involved in the project proper only when it is necessary to tap into what they have to offer (e.g. University Staff). This was evident in the case as the Project Manager (Lead) was involved in the project from the start, while the Development Team was only involved later during the system development.

5.3.2 Inter-Stakeholder Relationships Facilitation

The second issue to be considered for efficient stakeholder management is the facilitation of inter-stakeholder relationships. As identified in section 2.2.2, stakeholder relationships are not limited one-to-one interactions, but are a complex array of multiple and interdependent relationships that exist in stakeholder environments (Howard et al., 2003; Pouloudi, 1999; Rowley, 1997). In fact, consistent with social network analysis, the nature of ties developed by a particular stakeholder with other stakeholders determines the extent to which the former will adopt and use a system (Nambisan & Agarwal, 1998). Thus, effective stakeholder management is not just about managing each stakeholder, but also about simultaneously facilitating their inter-relationships.

From the case, this study identified three issues which impact on the facilitation of interstakeholder relationships during ES projects. The first issue is the involvement of stakeholders in the ES project decision-making and evaluation process. The involvement of all relevant stakeholders in this process is important as a system characterized by majority-based or consensus-based decision-making generally generates more satisfactory results, while a system characterized by seniority-based decision-making is associated with more negative results (Reimers, 2003).

This was exemplified in the case by the actions of the Steering Committee when they were deciding on proceeding with the project. Although the decision was solely theirs as they had the authority to enforce their decision, they sought input from the User Lead and HRD-Users. This gave them more perspectives on the project and helped to alleviate any potential dissatisfaction by getting everyone to agree that the system was the best thing for the department.

The involvement of stakeholders in the decision-making process is especially important in ES projects, as it helps to reduce misfits between the different stakeholders who are involved. This leads to the second issue, that is, stakeholder awareness and understanding of the multiple, sometimes conflicting, interests of different stakeholders (Collins, 1994). Raising such awareness allows stakeholders to better understand one another's points of view, so that instead of always insisting on getting their own way, they are better able to compromise and meet each other halfway.

It was evident from the case that a potential source of misfit between stakeholders was between the users' business requirements and IS staff's technical requirements. This was minimized in the case, as the HRD-IT and SAP-LC consulted the HRD-Users and User Lead regularly during the project, particularly during the requirements gathering phase. Formal and informal sessions were conducted between them to ensure that all the HRD-Users' requirements were analyzed, and where the requirements were not feasible, they worked closely to develop viable alternatives. Consequently, the HRD-IT and SAP-LC better understood the business requirements, while the HRD-Users and User Lead better understood the system capabilities. This helped to reduce potential future conflicts over what the final system would entail. Despite efforts to build a strong web of inter-stakeholder relationships to minimize conflicts, the reality is that stakeholder activities are highly interdependent, thus creating a high potential for conflict within and across stakeholders (Kochan & Rubinstein, 2000). Thus, the final issue is the need for an efficient process of stakeholder conflict resolution. Swiftly and efficiently nipping such conflicts in the bud prevents the conflict from getting out of hand and affecting the success of the ES project.

In the case, the project team had a clear four-step process in place to deal with conflicts, which aimed to resolve any conflicts within two days at most. Basically, the HRD-IT and User Lead were given the freedom to resolve conflicts in their teams. If they could not handle the conflict, it would be passed on to the Project Manager (Lead) to resolve. If he was unable to resolve it, he brought it up to the MIS Manager. Finally, if he was unable to help, the issue would be brought up to the Steering Committee. This process proved successful, as there were only a few cases of differences among stakeholders, which were swiftly dealt with by the HRD-IT, User Lead, Project Manager (Lead) and MIS Manager. This success could be attributed to the clearly defined levels of conflict resolution, whereby stakeholders had greater flexibility to resolve issues among themselves instead of always having to involve their superiors.

5.3.3 Inter-Stakeholder Knowledge Sharing Facilitation

The final issue to be considered in the stakeholder management process is the facilitation of inter-stakeholder knowledge sharing. The convergence of the knowledge domains of stakeholders supports the need for new knowledge management approaches to facilitate information across the boundaries of stakeholders (Baskerville et al., 2000).

Stakeholders require an environment in which they are willing and able to share their knowledge with other stakeholders to reach a mutual understanding (Reich & Benbasat, 2000) and increase collaboration (Jones & Price, 2001). This is especially important in ES projects, as knowledge domains are diversely spread across different departments and stakeholders, and even come from both within and without the organization.

From the case, this study identified three issues which impact on the facilitation of interstakeholder knowledge sharing during ES projects. The first issue is the regular updating of all relevant stakeholders of ES projects. Regularly updating them on what is happening in the project, and what and when they would be involved in it, ensures that they share a common view of the proposed system, thus increasing their preparedness to contribute and acceptance of the system. Keeping stakeholders updated can also increase transparency to reduce potential interpersonal conflicts, which could otherwise have arisen if a stakeholder is kept in the dark and mistakenly feels that his interests are being intentionally opposed by another party (Barki & Hartwick, 2001).

This was facilitated for most of the stakeholders in the case. For example, though HCD was only involved in later phases, they were informed during the planning phase of when they would be roped in and what would be needed of them, so that they could better plan their schedules. One exception to this was the University Staff who were only selectively

updated on the system and involved in its development. As such, they did not know quite what to expect or what was expected of them.

The second issue identified is the efficient use of both formal and informal lines of communication between stakeholders. Many project failures can be traced to a breakdown in communications (Jurison, 1999). Without a strong communication culture and formally established avenues of communication, stakeholders find it hard to understand and work with one another.

An example of the lines of communication in the case was the formal line of communication between the Steering Committee and the rest of the project team via the Project Manager (Lead). This enabled the lines of communication to be streamlined as both the committee and team received and disseminated important information to and from just one source, namely the Project Manager (Lead).

In addition to formal lines of communication, there should also be sufficient avenues of informal communication between the stakeholders to ensure greater mutual understanding and alignment between them (Reich & Benbasat, 2000). Formal lines of communication are often time-consuming and more suited for superior-subordinate relationships. For relationships between stakeholders of similar importance and for frequent interactions, communication channels should be more flexible and informal.

This was evident in the case as the HRD-IT used the formal line of communication via the Project Manager (Lead) to update the Steering Committee. In contrast, they used both formal (i.e. meetings) and informal (i.e. e-mail, telephone of face-to-face visits) lines of communication when dealing with the HRD-Users, for a more flexible and comfortable working relationship between them.

The final issue is the use of IT to support the inter-stakeholder knowledge sharing environment. Examples of such IT include networks and other technologies to connect various stakeholders (Henfridsson & Holmstrom, 2002). These technologies are the underlying foundation of inter-stakeholder knowledge sharing, as they provide the physical environment that allows stakeholders to interact and share information.

This was evident in the case as simple technologies like e-mail were utilized to allow stakeholders to keep in touch and discuss the project. More specialized technologies, like an internal document warehouse, were also utilized to facilitate the storage of documents, such as the project plan and minutes of meetings, in a common location that was easily accessible by all the relevant stakeholders.

5.3.4 Stakeholder Management Model

In summary, stakeholder management is a crucial yet under-researched step of the stakeholder analysis process. From the case study, three main areas that were important to the stakeholder management process were identified (see Figure 14). After the stakeholder prioritization process, the first step involves the formation of a well-balanced and flexible mix of the relevant project stakeholders.

Then, the organization should manage the project stakeholders by simultaneously facilitating their inter-stakeholder relationships and knowledge sharing efforts. This is the final piece of the stakeholder analysis puzzle, as effective stakeholder management, based on a thorough stakeholder identification and prioritization process, may give organizations a greater chance of achieving ES implementation success.



Figure 14: Stakeholder Management Model

5.4 Summary

Research Questions	Findings
Stakeholder	Key activities identification.
Identification	Relevant stakeholder involvement identification.
	Relevant inter-relationships identification.
Stakeholder	Stakeholder legitimacy characteristics.
Prioritization	Stakeholder Level A sources of power.
	Stakeholder Level B sources of power.
Stakeholder	Project stakeholder mix
Management	Inter-stakeholder relationships facilitation.
	Inter-stakeholder knowledge sharing facilitation.

Table 13: Case Study Findings

The findings of this case shed some light on the three areas of stakeholder analysis of ES projects (see Table 13). The first area is the identification of all the relevant stakeholders of the project that organizations have to deal with. Then, given the number of stakeholders, the next area is the prioritization of the more important stakeholders from the rest. The final area is how stakeholders should be managed to maximize their contributions to the project. Putting these three sets of findings together, we have a more comprehensive stakeholder analysis model for ES implementations (see Figure 15).



Figure 15: Stakeholder Analysis Model of Enterprise Systems Implementations

Chapter 6

Conclusion

6.1 Summary

Enterprise Systems are an integral part of organizations today, as they are the price of entry to do business in today's economy (Kumar & van Hillegersberg, 2000). ES have evolved from Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems to include all types of integrated, enterprise-wide systems with centralized databases, such as Customer Resource Planning (CRM) and Supply Chain Management (SCM) systems. Despite the benefits of ES though, many organizations are still hesitant to or face problems when implementing them as they remain high-risk projects (Parr & Shanks, 2000).

A stakeholder perspective of ES using Stakeholder Theory can potentially minimize these risks by helping organizations better understand the numerous stakeholders involved in ES projects, as efficient identification (Papazafeiropoulou et al., 2002) and management (Wolfe & Putler, 2002) of these stakeholders can help to align the system with stakeholder needs, thus increasing the project's likelihood of success. Thus far though, this theory has not sufficiently been applied to the study of ES implementations (Pouloudi, 1999). This study aims to bridge this gap in ES implementation literature with a case study of an ES project from a stakeholder perspective.

This study was divided into two parts. Firstly, a literature review of previous studies on Enterprise Systems and Stakeholder Theory, and how the latter can be applied to the study of the former, was conducted. Secondly, a qualitative, interpretive case study of a university's ERP implementation was conducted over a period of six months. Finally, several research findings were made with regards to the three initial research questions.

The first finding was with regards to the identification of stakeholders. With respect to this question, a model was developed to showcase the identification process of the relevant stakeholders of ES projects. This model bases the identification of stakeholders on the key activities in each phase of the ES project, as per Markus & Tanis (2000)'s model. In addition to the interests of each stakeholder in each activity, the scope of their inter-relationships should also be identified (Friedman & Miles, 2002). Based on this information, the list of relevant stakeholders can be identified.

The next finding is with respect to the prioritization of stakeholders, which highlights the more important stakeholders in each phase of the ES project, as recommended by Starik (1994). Again, a model was developed to showcase the prioritization process of the more important stakeholders of ES projects based on six distinct characteristics that can be used to differentiate between these stakeholders. These characteristics are further divided into three categories, according to their role in the prioritization process.

In the stakeholder legitimacy category, the two characteristics identified were ownership and value of contribution. In the main level A power category, the two characteristics identified were authority and domain knowledge. Finally, in the supplementary level B power category, the two characteristics identified were control of resources and special requirements. Together, these three categories help to pinpoint the more important stakeholders at any phase of the project so that the organization can focus on them, as advised by Wolfe & Putler (2002).

The final finding is with respect to the management of stakeholders, which is an important yet under-researched aspect of stakeholder analysis (Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001) of ES implementations. Again, a model was developed to showcase stakeholder management based on three findings from the study. Firstly, the study showed that the first step in stakeholder management should be the formation of a well-balanced and flexible mix of the relevant project stakeholders. Next, since stakeholders to have direct relationships with each other (Rowley, 1997), there should be the facilitation of smooth inter-relationships between these stakeholders. Finally, given the convergence of the different knowledge domains of stakeholders, an environment should be facilitated in which these stakeholders are able to engage in efficient knowledge sharing, as proposed by Baskerville et al. (2000).

6.2 Research Contributions

The findings of this study are relevant to both researchers and managers. To researchers, the findings of this study give them some insight into the impact of stakeholders on ES implementations thus opening up various avenues for future research to further their understanding of this under-researched area of ES. As for managers, this study gives them a practical starting point from which to identify and understand their stakeholders.

6.2.1 Contributions to Theory

With respect to the first research question, this study emphasizes the importance of stakeholder identification as a crucial first step towards stakeholder analysis. It addresses the limitations of past literature that only identify a few stakeholders that are studied independently. In contrast, this study argues for the need to identify all the relevant stakeholders such that they can then be studied as a whole, so that they do not miss out on important stakeholders or minimize their contributions to the project.

This study also proposes that researchers should not stop at identifying their relevant stakeholders. Instead, they should also study the inter-relationships between these stakeholders, as these inter-relationships can have an impact on why certain stakeholders act in certain ways.

Finally, this study addresses a gap in past literature, which focuses on the identification of stakeholders from an organizational perspective. In contrast, this study argues that researchers should consider the views of all stakeholders during the identification process, as different stakeholders may have their own perspectives on who the relevant stakeholders of the project are.

With regards to the second question, the model by Mitchell et al. (1997) was utilized for the stakeholder prioritization process. This study builds on this model, making it more applicable to research on ES implementations. Firstly, the study finds that their attribute of urgency does not necessarily apply to the study of ES projects, as it overlaps with the attributes of power and legitimacy.

Next, this study expanded on the attributes of legitimacy and power by incorporating six distinct characteristics that better help to differentiate between the stakeholders and give greater depth to these two attributes. Even so, these characteristics are by no means definitive as they are specific to the case that was studied. However, this revised model should still give researchers a better starting point from which to conduct further stakeholder analysis of ES implementations.

This study also supports the issue of stakeholder variance along the ES project life cycle. Current literature on the study of stakeholders tends to focus on their roles and contributions at specific instances of the ES project. Instead, this study posits that researchers should take into account the different needs at each phase of the project life cycle, and how different combinations of stakeholders are thus required.

With regards to the third research question, this study looks at stakeholder management, an area of stakeholder analysis that has thus been far received little attention in IS research. This study goes beyond just supporting the need for a well-balanced mix of ES
project stakeholders. It further uncovers the need for such consolidation to be flexible to cater to the dynamic needs along the different phases of the ES project life cycle.

Although literature does highlight the need to manage stakeholders as a network of interrelationships, little work has been done on how this can be done or what aspects of these inter-relationships should be addressed. This study presents two possible avenues of research into this area.

Firstly, having identified the stakeholder web during the stakeholder identification process, researchers should utilize this web to analyze the inter-connections between stakeholders during the ES project life cycle, and see how these inter-relationships impact the contributions of stakeholders during the project.

Secondly, with regards to knowledge sharing among stakeholders, this study highlights the need for researchers to place greater emphasis on facilitating an environment in which stakeholders can proactively share knowledge for the greater good of the project.

Finally, past literature has focused on in-depth studies of the individual aspects of stakeholder analysis or broad overviews of the entire process. In contrast, this study's biggest contribution to theory is the development of a comprehensive stakeholder analysis model that is applicable to the ES implementations context. From an ES implementation perspective, this model bridges a gap in literature with regards to the study of the impact of the stakeholders on ES project success and how they should be

managed. Furthermore, from a Stakeholder Theory perspective, it takes the theory to the next level by presenting a comprehensive and detailed flow of the stakeholder analysis process, which can help researchers to study the practical use of this theory.

6.2.2 Contributions to Practice

This study also makes several contributions to the practical problems faced by organizations during ES implementations. In essence, this study emphasizes the need for organizations to go beyond focusing on technical issues surrounding their ES projects, to also consider the people factor, as greater understanding and management of these stakeholders can facilitate a smoother ES implementation process.

The first problem facing practitioners is identifying exactly who they have to deal with and include in their ES projects. This study emphasizes the need for organizations to draw up a comprehensive list of all relevant stakeholders of the ES project and their interests, no matter how minor their involvement could be. They should then ensure that each stakeholder is incorporated into the project in one way or another so that all their interests can be accommodated as much as possible. This ensures that the organization does not miss any issues that could potentially impact the implementation and utilization of the system. In addition, it is more prudent for organizations to incorporate the views of other stakeholders during stakeholder identification, instead of solely relying on management's perspective, to avoid missing out on any potentially relevant stakeholder. Furthermore, organizations should note that the stakeholders of ES projects do not exist in isolation, as they have to work closely with one another to fulfill their roles and responsibilities during the project. Thus, in addition to identifying all the relevant stakeholders and their interests, organizations should also identify the inter-relationships between them. This would give them a holistic picture of how exactly stakeholders work with and influence one another. This will allows managers to better manage their stakeholder simultaneously as a whole.

Having identified all the relevant stakeholders, organizations will inevitably face the problem of trying to juggle the demands of all these stakeholders. This study presents a model to facilitate the process of prioritization of these stakeholders so that the organization can then focus their attention on their more important stakeholders. This model is based on six stakeholder characteristics, but while organizations should base their prioritization of their stakeholders on the three categories identified in the model, they can modify the specific characteristics used in the analysis as necessary to suit their specific organizational needs.

Most importantly, managers should be aware that these characteristics and the importance of the stakeholders, is not fixed. Rather, they vary during the course of the different phases of the ES project life cycle. Hence, organizations should be aware that they need to identify and prioritize their stakeholders separately in each phase, and not assume that having done so at the start of the project, they can proceed to manage their stakeholders in the same way throughout the project. Once organizations understand the stakeholders involved in their ES implementations, the final contribution of this study is towards how these stakeholders can be managed. Firstly, this study encourages managers to pay greater attention to the mix of project stakeholders to ensure that they are representative of the four main categories of ES project stakeholders. Furthermore, managers should develop a core team of stakeholders, and add-on the remaining stakeholders as and when they are needed. This helps to streamline the stakeholders' involvement, minimize the stakeholders who are involved at any one time, and minimize the time and resources that each stakeholder needs to contribute to the project at any one time.

Next, as mentioned earlier, managers should be aware of the interplay of interactions between stakeholders. Instead of micro-managing their relationships, managers should look to ways of creating an environment in which stakeholders have minimal problems in interacting with one another. One example is the setting up of a clear conflict resolution hierarchy and guideline so that stakeholders can resolve their own conflicts instead of bringing every issue up to top management, or worse still, ignoring these issues and letting them fester until they become detrimental to the project.

Similarly, managers should also create a conducive environment in which stakeholders can share knowledge with one another. As mentioned earlier, different stakeholders bring different sets of domain knowledge to the table during the project. As such, it is important for them to be able to share this knowledge with other stakeholders so that everyone can perform their role optimally. However, given the diverse sources of knowledge, it would be more efficient for facilitate a setting in which stakeholders are willing and able to share their knowledge, rather than having the organization manage each and every transfer of information.

6.3 Future Research

Based on the findings of this study and the contributions to researchers, several potential avenues for future research are proposed that build on the work done in this study. One such area is a multiple-case study involving a variety of other types of ES projects, such as CRM and SCM projects, to facilitate the triangulation of research findings towards developing a holistic model that is generally applicable to all ES projects.

Another future area of research is to empirically test the model developed in this study, for example with a survey of each of the attributes identified in the model. This will enable researchers to test the validity of the model and hence fine-tune it accordingly towards developing a more comprehensive model that can be used in future stakeholder analysis of ES projects.

A third area of research is to conduct longitudinal studies of ES projects from the planning to the post-implementation phases. This will give greater insight into how stakeholders vary during the course of the ES project life cycle and hence how they should be handled in each phase.

A fourth area of research is on the role of different stakeholders along the various phases of the ES project life cycle. This study could develop a list of the common activities in each phase of the cycle. The study can then identify the contributions required for each activity. This can serve as a blueprint for the identification of the relevant stakeholders who can fulfill these contributions.

This study has focused largely on the analysis of stakeholders during the course of an ES project. It would probably prove interesting for future studies to also analyze the needs, impact and management of stakeholders during post-implementation, when the project is basically over, the project team disbanded and normal operations have resumed in the organization. How does the management of stakeholders in such low-key periods compare to their management during high-key project periods?

Another area of research is with regards to stakeholder prioritization. This study supplies a list of six variables that can help to differentiate between the stakeholders of ES implementations. Further studies can look into validating this list, and either adding or subtracting from it, such that a more comprehensive list of variables can be developed, which can help facilitate stakeholder prioritization.

Research can also be conducted on project stakeholder mix. Given the numerous stakeholders involved in ES projects, future studies can work on developing a blueprint for flexible mixtures of project stakeholders. These studies can look into who should constitute the fixed component, and who should constitute the variable components, as

well as how these variables components can most effectively be connected and disconnected from this mix.

There can also be research into the area of stakeholder inter-relationships. Given the complexity of stakeholder inter-relationships and the need for organizations to facilitate the interactions amongst their stakeholders, research can be conducted into how this can best be achieved. It can look into the factors that have an impact on stakeholder inter-relationships, and how organizations can manage these issues.

Research can also be conducted into the area of knowledge sharing. Such research can be conducted into the use of stakeholder theory to facilitate the identification and prioritization of the stakeholders who possess the necessary knowledge required for ES projects. From there, studies should also look into how such stakeholders should be managed to facilitate their ability and willingness to share their knowledge at each phase of the ES project life cycle, for the ultimate benefit of the project.

In addition, research can also be conducted into the general area of stakeholder management. In addition to the three issues identified in this study, namely stakeholder mix, inter-relationships and knowledge sharing, future studies could look at ongoing or past ES projects and see how organizations have managed their different stakeholders. What makes the involvement of these stakeholders during ES project unique as compared to other IS projects? Furthermore, what makes the management of these ES project stakeholders different from normal IS stakeholder management?

With the groundwork laid by this study as to how stakeholders during ES projects can be identified and prioritized, to facilitate their management, future research can also focus on how such stakeholder analysis actually impacts on ES implementation success. To what extent does stakeholder analysis play a part in improving the success of ES projects? Furthermore, what aspects of stakeholder analysis are specifically important in contributing to this success?

Finally, given that the stakeholders involved in ES projects generally have their own interests, and their primary aim is usually first and foremost to fulfill these needs, another interesting line of research would be to look at what exactly the stakeholders of ES projects do to ensure that their needs are fulfilled. This can give greater insight into why stakeholders act the way they do during ES projects, and subsequently, how this affects the way they should be managed.

6.4 Limitations of Research

This study faced two main limitations, which should be taken into account when applying its findings. Firstly, this study's findings are neither representative nor generalizable to the entire spectrum of ERP, much less ES, implementations, as the study was limited to a single-case study of two phases of the ES project life cycle. This limitation can be overcome by conducting multiple studies of different ES projects to test the validity of this study's findings. A second limitation of this study was the heavy dependence on interviews and documentation. This is largely second-hand information that though informative, can only provide so much information, especially when it comes to the analysis of stakeholder interactions. Further research into a stakeholder perspective of ES projects should incorporate other data sources, such as direct observations of meetings between various combinations of stakeholders at different phases of the ES project life cycle, as this may provide greater insight into how these interactions vary.

Chapter 7

References

- 1. "ASAP Roadmap", SAPGenie.com, http://www.sapgenie.com/asap/roadmap.htm
- 2. "SAPFile", The SAP Fan Club, http://www.sapfans.com/sapfans/repos/sapfile.pdf
- Adam, F. & O'Doherty, P (Dec 2000), "Lessons from Enterprise Resource Planning Implementations in Ireland – Towards Smaller and Shorter ERP Projects", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 305 – 316
- Adelakun, O. & Jennex, M. E. (Aug 2002), "Stakeholder Process Approach to Information Systems Evaluation", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1186 – 1194
- Agle, B. R., Mitchell, R. K. & Sonnenfeld, J. A. (Oct 1999), "Who Matters to CEOs? An Investigation of Stakeholder Attributes and Salience, Corporate Performance, and CEO Values", Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 42, Issue 5, pp. 507 – 525
- Akkermans, H. & Helden, K. V. (Mar 2002), "Vicious and Virtuous Cycles in ERP Implementation: A Case Study of Interrelations Between Critical Success Factors", European Journal of Information Systems, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 35 – 46
- Barki, H. & Hartwick, J. (Jun 2001), "Interpersonal Conflict and its Management in Information System Development", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 25, Issue 2, pp. 195 – 228
- 8. Baskerville, R., Pawlowski, S. & McLean, E. (Dec 2000), "Enterprise Resource Planning and Organizational Knowledge: Patterns Of Convergence and Divergence",

Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 396 – 406

- Benbasat, I., Goldstein, D. K. & Mead, M. (Sep 1987), "The Case Research Strategy in Studies of Information Systems", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 11, Issue 3, pp. 369 – 386
- Bennett, C. & Timbrell, G. T. (Aug 2000), "Application Service Providers: Will they Succeed?", Information Systems Frontiers, Vol. 2, Issue 2, pp. 195 – 211
- 11. Berman, S. L., Wicks, A. C., Kotha, S. & Jones, T. M. (Oct 1999), "Does Stakeholder Orientation Matter? The Relationship Between Stakeholder Management Models and Firm Financial Performance", Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 42, Issue 5, pp. 488 – 506
- Boatright, J. R. (Sep 2002), "Contractors as Stakeholders: Reconciling Stakeholder Theory with the Nexus-Of-Contracts Firm", Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 26, Issue 9, pp. 1837 – 1852
- 13. Boyatzis, R. E. (1998), "Transforming Qualitative Information: Thematic Analysis and Code Development", Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California
- 14. Brown, C. V. & Vessey, I. (Mar 2003), "Managing the Next Wave of Enterprise Systems: Leveraging Lessons from ERP", MIS Quarterly Executive, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 65 77
- 15. Chan, C. M. L., Pan, S. L. & Tan, C. W. (Aug 2003), "Managing Stakeholder Relationships in an E-Government Project", Proceedings of the 9th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 783 – 791

- 16. Chang, S. I., Gable, G., Smythe, E. & Timbrell, G. (Dec 2000), "A Delphi Examination of Public Sector ERP Implementation Issues", Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 494 500
- 17. Clarkson, M. B. E. (Jan 1995), "A Stakeholder Framework for Analyzing and Evaluating Corporate Social Performance", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 20, Issue 1, pp. 92 117
- 18. Coakes, E. & Elliman, T. (Jul 1999), "Focus Issue on Legacy Information Systems and Business Process Change: The Role of Stakeholders in Managing Change", Communications of the Association for Information Systems, Vol. 2, Article 4
- Coff, R. W. (Mar-Apr 1999), "When Competitive Advantage Doesn't Lead to Performance: The Resource-Based View and Stakeholder Bargaining Power", Organization Science, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 119 – 133
- Collins, D. (Apr 1994), "Essay from the Toronto Conference: Reflections on Stakeholder Theory", Business & Society, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 121 – 123
- Davenport, T. H. (Aug 2000), "The Future of Enterprise System-Enabled Organizations", Information Systems Frontiers, Vol. 2, Issue 2, pp. 163 – 180
- Davenport, T. H. (Jul-Aug 1998), "Putting the Enterprise into the Enterprise System", Harvard Business Review, pp. 121-131
- Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S. (eds.) (2000), "Handbook of Qualitative Research", Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California
- 24. Donaldson, T. & Preston, L. E. (Jan 1995), "The Stakeholder Theory of the Corporation: Concepts, Evidence and Implications", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 20, Issue 1, pp. 65 – 91

- 25. Esteves, J. & Pastor, J. (Aug 2001a), "Analysis of Critical Success Factors Relevance along SAP Implementation Phases", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1019 – 1025
- 26. Esteves, J. & Pastor, J. (Aug 2001b), "Enterprise Resource Planning Systems Research: An Annotated Bibliography", Communications of the Association for Information Systems, Vol. 7, Article 8
- 27. Freeman, R. E. (1984), "Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach", Boston:Pitman
- 28. Friedman, A. L. & Miles, S. (Jan 2002), "Developing Stakeholder Theory", Journal of Management Studies, Vol. 39, Issue 1, pp. 1 21
- Frooman, J. (Apr 1999), "Stakeholder Influence Strategies", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 24, Issue 2, pp. 191 – 205
- 30. Goodhue, D. L., Wixom, B. H. & Watson, H. J. (Jun 2002), "Realizing Business Benefits Through CRM: Hitting the Right Target in the Right Way", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 79 – 94
- 31. Greenley, G. E. & Foxall, G. R. (Feb 1998), "External Moderation Of Associations Among Stakeholder Orientations and Company Performance", International Journal of Research in Marketing, Vol. 15, Issue 1, pp. 51 – 69
- 32. Hartman, F. & Ashrafi, R. A. (Sep 2002), "Project Management in the Information Systems and Information Technologies Industries", Project Management Journal, Vol. 33, No. 3, pp. 5 – 15
- Hayman, L. (Aug 2000), "ERP in the Internet Economy", Information Systems Frontiers, Vol. 2, Issue 2, pp. 137 – 139

- 34. Henfridsson, O. & Holmstrom, H. (Dec 2002), "Developing E-Commerce in Internetworked Organizations: A Case of Customer Involvement Throughout the Computer Gaming Value Chain", ACM SIGMIS Database, Vol. 33, Issue 4, pp. 38 50
- 35. Hirt, S. G. & Swanson, E. B. (Nov-Dec 2001), "Emergent Maintenance of ERP: New Roles and Relationships", Journal of Software Maintenance and Evolution: Research and Practice, Vol. 13, Issue 6, pp. 373 – 397
- 36. Hong, K. K. & Kim, Y. G. (Oct 2002), "The Critical Success Factors for ERP Implementation: An Organizational Fit Perspective", Information & Management, Vol. 40, Issue 1, pp. 25 – 40
- 37. Howard, M., Vidgen, R. & Powell, P. (Mar 2003), "Overcoming Stakeholder Barriers in the Automotive Industry: Building to Order with Extra-Organizational Systems", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 18, No. 1, pp. 27 – 43
- 38. Howcroft, D. & Light, B. (Dec 2002), "A Study of User Involvement in Packaged Software Selection", Proceedings of The 23rd International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 69 – 77
- 39. Jawahar, I. M. & McLaughlin, G. (Jul 2001), "Toward a Descriptive Stakeholder Theory: An Organizational Life Cycle Approach", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 26, Issue 3, pp. 397 – 414
- 40. Jones, M. C. & Price, R. L. (Dec 2001), "Organizational Knowledge Sharing in ERP Implementation: A Multiple Case Study Analysis", Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 551 – 554

- 41. Jones, T. M. (Apr, 1995), "Instrumental Stakeholder Theory: A Synthesis of Ethics and Economics", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 20, Issue 2, pp. 404 – 437
- 42. Jurison, J. (Sep 1999), "Software Project Management: The Manager's View", Communications of the Association for Information Systems, Vol. 2, Article 17
- 43. Klaus, H., Rosemann, M. & Gable, G. G. (Aug 2000), "What is ERP?", Information Systems Frontiers, Vol. 2, Issue 2, pp. 141 162
- 44. Klein, G. & Jiang, J. J. (Mar 2001), "Seeking Consonance in Information Systems", Journal of Systems and Software", Vol. 56, Issue 2, pp. 195 – 202
- 45. Klein, H. K. & Myers, M. D. (Mar 1999), "A Set of Principles for Conducting and Evaluating Interpretive Field Studies in Information Systems", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 23, Issue 1, pp. 67 – 94
- 46. Knapp, C. A. & Shin, N. (Aug 2001), "Impacts of Enterprise Resource Planning Systems Selection and Implementation", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1046 – 1048
- 47. Kochan, T. A. & Rubinstein, S. A. (Jul-Aug 2000), "Toward a Stakeholder Theory of the Firm: The Saturn Partnership", Organization Science, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 367 – 386
- 48. Kræmmergaard, P. & Rose, J. (Jul 2002), "Managerial Competences for ERP Journeys", Information Systems Frontiers, Vol. 4, Issue 2, pp. 199 – 211
- 49. Kremers, M. & van Dissel, H. (Apr 2000), "ERP System Migrations", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 53 – 56
- 50. Kumar, K. & van Hillegersberg, J. (Apr 2000), "ERP Experiences and Evolution", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 23 – 26

- 51. Lee, A. S. (Nov 1991), "Integrating Positivist and Interpretive Approaches to Organizational Research", Organization Science, Vol. 2, No. 4, pp. 342 – 365
- 52. Lee, J. S. K. (Apr 1992), "Quantitative Versus Qualitative Research Methods Two Approaches to Organization Studies", Asia Pacific Journal of Management, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 87 – 94
- 53. Lee, J., Siau, K. & Hong, S. (Feb 2003), "Enterprise Integration with ERP and EAI", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 46, No. 2, pp. 54 – 60
- 54. Lee, Z. & Lee, J. (Dec 2000), "An ERP Implementation Case Study from a Knowledge Transfer Perspective", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 281 288
- 55. Leonard-Barton, D. (Aug 1990), "A Dual Methodology for Case Studies: Synergistic Use of a Longitudinal Single Site with Replicated Multiple Sites", Organization Science, Vol. 1, No. 3, pp. 248 – 266
- 56. Light, B. (Nov-Dec 2001), "The Maintenance Implications of the Customization of ERP Software", Journal of Software Maintenance and Evolution: Research and Practice, Vol. 13, Issue 6, pp. 415 – 429
- 57. Livermore, C. T. R. & Ragowsky, A. (Aug 2002), "ERP Systems Selection and Implementation: A Cross-Cultural Approach", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1333 – 1339
- 58. Lorenzo, O. (Aug 2001), "Human, Contextual, and Processual Issues Influencing Enterprise System Use", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1118 – 1121

- 59. Luftman, J.N., Papp, R. & Brier, T. (Mar 1999), "Enablers and Inhibitors of Business-IT Alignment", Communications of the Association for Information Systems, Vol. 1, Article 11
- 60. Markus, M. L. & Tanis, C. (Jun 2000), "The Enterprise System Experience From Adoption to Success", In Zmud, R. W. (ed.), Framing the Domains of IT Management, Pinnaflex, Chapter 10, pp. 173 – 207
- 61. Markus, M. L., Axline, S., Petrie, D. & Tanis, C. (Dec 2000), "Learning from Adopters' Experiences with ERP: Problems Encountered and Success Achieved", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 245 – 265
- 62. Massey, A. P., Montoya-Weiss, M. M. & Brown, S. A. (Aug 2001), "Reaping the Benefits of Innovative IT: The Long and Winding Road", IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, Vol. 48, No. 3, pp. 348 – 357
- 63. McKenney, J. L. & McFarlan, F. W. (Sep Oct 1982), "The Information Archipelago: Maps and Bridges", Harvard Business Review, Vol. 60, Issue 5, pp. 109 119
- 64. Mendelow, A.L. (1984), "Information Systems for Organizational Effectiveness: Use of the Stakeholder Approach" in M.A. Bemelmans (ed) Beyond Productivity: Information System Development for Organizational Effectiveness, North-Holland pp. 127-134
- 65. Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R. & Wood, D. J. (Oct 1997), "Toward a Theory of Stakeholder Identification and Salience: Defining The Principle of Who and What Really Counts", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 22, Issue 4, pp. 853 – 886

- 66. Murphy, G. D. & Chang, A. (Aug 2002), "Enterprise Systems and Social Networks: Extending User Acceptance Theory", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 874 – 882
- Murphy, K. E. & Simon, S. J. (Oct 2002), "Intangible Benefits Valuation in ERP Projects", Information Systems Journal, Vol. 12, Issue 4, pp. 301 – 320
- 68. Murray, M. G. & Coffin, G. W. (Aug 2001), "A Case Study Analysis of Factors for Success in ERP System Implementations", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1012 – 1018
- 69. Myers, M. D. (Jun 1997), "Qualitative Research in Information Systems", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 241 242
- 70. Nah, F. F. H., Faja, S. & Cata, T. (Nov-Dec 2001), "Characteristics of ERP Software Maintenance: A Multiple Case Study", Journal of Software Maintenance and Evolution: Research and Practice, Vol. 13, Issue 6, pp. 399 – 414
- 71. Nambisan, S. & Agarwal, R. (Dec 1998), "The Adoption and Use of National Information Infrastructure: A Social Network and Stakeholder Perspective", Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 313 – 318
- 72. Natovich, J. (Aug 2002), "IT Project Failure and Vendor Related Risks: Is Outsourcing a Solution or a Problem?", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1402 – 1406
- 73. Neuman, W. L. (2003), "Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches", Allyn & Bacon, Boston, MA

- 74. Newell, S., Huang, J. & Tansley, C. (Dec 2002), "Social Capital in ERP Projects: The Differential Source and Effects of Bridging and Bonding", Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 257 – 265
- 75. Newell, S., Huang, J. C., Galliers, R. D. & Pan, S. L. (Jan 2003), "Implementing Enterprise Resource Planning and Knowledge Management Systems in Tandem: Fostering Efficiency and Innovation Complementarity", Information and Organization, Vol. 13, Issue 1, pp. 25 52
- 76. Oliver, D. & Romm, C. (Dec 2002), "Justifying Enterprise Resource Planning Adoption", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 17, No. 4, pp. 199 – 213
- 77. Orlikowski, W. J. & Baroudi, J. J. (Mar 1991), "Studying Information Technology in Organizations: Research Approaches and Assumption", Information Systems Research, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 1 28
- 78. Pan, S. L., Newell, S., Huang, J. C. & Cheung, A. W. K. (Dec 2001), "Knowledge Integration as a Key Problem in an ERP Implementation", Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 321 – 327
- 79. Papazafeiropoulou, A., Pouloudi, A. & Poulymenakou, A. (2002), "Electronic Commerce Competitiveness in the Public Sector: The Importance of Stakeholder Involvement", International Journal of Services Technology and Management, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 82 – 95
- Parr, A. & Shanks, G. (Dec 2000), "A Model of ERP Project Implementation", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 289 – 303

- 81. Poston, R. & Grabski, S. (Dec 2000), "The Impact of Enterprise Resource Planning Systems on Firm Performance", Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 479 – 493
- 82. Pouloudi, A. (Jan 1999), "Aspects of the Stakeholder Concept and their Implications for Information Systems Development", Proceedings of the 32nd Hawaii International Conference on System Science, Track 7, 17 pages
- 83. Reich, B. H. & Benbasat, I. (Mar 2000), "Factors that Influence the Social Dimension of Alignment Between Business and Information Technology Objectives", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 24, Issue 1, pp. 81 – 113
- 84. Reimers, K (Mar 2003), "Implementing ERP Systems in China", Communications of the Association for Information Systems, Vol. 11, Article 20
- 85. Robey, D., Ross, J. W. & Boudreau, M-C. (Summer 2002), "Learning to Implement Enterprise Systems: An Exploratory Study of the Dialetics of Change", Journal of Management Information Systems, Vol. 19, Issue 1, pp. 17 – 46
- 86. Rodecker, R. A. & Hess, T. J. (Aug 2001), "User Satisfaction with Enterprise Resource Planning Systems: The Effect of User Knowledge and Involvement, Training, and Locus of Control", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1033 – 1036
- 87. Rosemann, M. & Watson, E. E. (Feb 2002), "Special Issue on the AMCIS 2001 Workshops: Integrating Enterprise Systems in the University Curriculum", Communications of the Association for Information Systems, Vol. 8, Article 15, pp. 200 – 218

- 88. Rowley, T. J. & Moldoveanu, M. (Apr 2003), "When Will Stakeholder Groups Act? An Interest- and Identity-Based Model of Stakeholder Group Mobilization", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 28, Issue 2, pp. 204 – 219
- 89. Rowley, T. J. (Oct 1997), "Moving Beyond Dyadic Ties: A Network Theory of Stakeholder Influences", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 22, Issue 4, pp. 887 910
- 90. Ruohonen, M. (1991) "Stakeholders of SIS Planning: theoretical concepts and empirical examples", Strategic Information Systems, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 15-28
- 91. Sarker, S. & Lee, A. S. (Sep 2003), "Using a Case Study to Test the Role of Three Key Social Enablers in ERP Implementation", Information & Management, Vol. 40, Issue 8, pp. 813 829
- 92. Sasovova, Z., Heng, M. S. & Newman, M. (Aug 2001), "Limits to Using ERP Systems", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1142 – 1146
- 93. Scheer, A. W. & Habermann, F. (Apr 2000), "Making ERP a Success", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 57 – 61
- 94. Schneider, M. (Mar-Apr 2002), "A Stakeholder Model of Organizational Leadership", Organization Science, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 209 – 220
- 95. Schneiderman, B. & Rose, A. (Feb 1996), "Social Impact Statements: Engaging Public Participation in Information Technology Design", Proceedings of the Symposium on Computers and the Quality of Life, pp. 90 96
- 96. Scott, J. E. & Vessey, I. (Apr 2002), "Managing Risks In Enterprise Systems Implementations", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 45, No. 4, pp. 74 – 81

- 97. Scott, S. G. & Lane, V. R. (Jan 2000), "A Stakeholder Approach to Organizational Identity", Academy of Management Review, Vol. 25, Issue 1, pp. 43 – 62
- 98. Scott, S. V. & Wagner, E. L. (Oct 2003), "Networks, Negotiations, and New Times: The Implementation of Enterprise Resource Planning into an Academic Administration", Information and Organization, Vol. 13, Issue 4, pp. 285 – 313
- 99. Seddon, P. B., Staples, D. S., Patnayakuni, R. & Bowtell, M. J. (Dec 1998), "The IS Effectiveness Matrix: The Importance of Stakeholder and System in Measuring IS Success", Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Information Systems, pp. 165 – 176
- Sedera, D., Gable, G. & Chan, T. (Aug 2003), "Measuring Enterprise System Success: A Preliminary Model", Proceedings of the 9th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 476 485
- 101. Shang, S. & Seddon, P. B. (Oct 2002), "Assessing and Managing the Benefits of Enterprise Systems: The Business Manager's Perspective", Information Systems Journal, Vol. 12, Issue 4, pp. 271 – 299
- 102. Shaw, M. J. (Jan 2000), "Building an E-Business from Enterprise Systems", Information Systems Frontiers, Vol. 2, Issue 1, pp. 7 – 17
- 103. Shore, B. (2001), "Information Sharing in Global Supply Chain Systems", Journal of Global Information Technology Management, Vol. 4, No. 3, pp. 27 – 50
- 104. Singletary, L. A. (Aug 2002), "Empirical Study of Stakeholders' Perceived Benefits of Integration Attributes for Enterprise IT Applications", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 2573 – 2579

- 105. Soh, C., Kien, S. S. & Tay-Yap, J. (Apr 2000), "Cultural Fits and Misfits: Is ERP a Universal Solution?", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 47 51
- Sousa, R. D. (Aug 2002), "Enterprise Systems Extended Use", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 2580 – 2585
- 107. Sprott, D. (Apr 2000), "Componentizing the Enterprise Application Packages", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 63 – 69
- 108. Staehr, L., Shanks, G. & Seddon, P. (Aug 2002), "Understanding the Business Benefits of Enterprise Resource Planning Systems", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 899 – 906
- Starik, M. (Apr 1994), "Essay from the Toronto Conference: Reflections on Stakeholder Theory", Business & Society, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 89 – 95
- Stratman, J. K. & Roth, A. V. (Fall 2002), "Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)
 Competence Constructs: Two-Stage Multi-Item Scale Development and Validation",
 Decision Sciences, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 601 628
- 111. Sumner, M. (Dec 2000), "Risk Factors in Enterprise-Wide/ERP Projects", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 317 327
- Tan, C. W. & Pan, S. L. (Aug 2002), "ERP Success: The Search for a Comprehensive Framework", Proceedings of the 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 925 933
- 113. Taylor, S. J. & Bogdan, R. (1984), "Introduction to Qualitative Research Methods: The Search for Meanings", John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Toronto
- 114. Van der Blonk, H. (Mar 2003), "Writing Case Studies in Information Systems Research", Journal of Information Technology, Vol. 18, Issue 1, pp. 45 – 52

- 115. Van Everdingen, Y., Van Hillegersberg, J. & Waarts, E. (Apr 2000), "ERP Adoption by European Midsize Companies", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 27 31
- 116. Volkoff, O. & Sawyer, S. (Aug 2001), "ERP Implementation Teams, Consultants, and Information Sharing", Proceedings of the 7th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1043 1045
- 117. Walsham, G. (1993), "Interpreting Information Systems in Organizations", John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, England
- Wartick, S. (Apr 1994), "Essay from the Toronto Conference: Reflections On Stakeholder Theory", Business & Society, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 110 – 117
- Willcocks, L. P. & Sykes, R. (Apr 2000), "The Role of the CIO and IT Function in ERP", Communications of the ACM, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 32 – 38
- Wolfe, R. A. & Putler, D. S. (Jan-Feb 2002), "How Tight are the Ties that Bind Stakeholder Groups?", Organization Science, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 64 – 80
- 121. Yin, R. K. (2003), "Case Study Research: Design and Methods", Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California
- 122. Yin, R. K. (Sep 1981), "The Case Study as a Serious Research Strategy", Knowledge: Creation, Diffusion and Utilization, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 97 – 114

Appendix A

Case Study Protocol

A.1Introduction

The purpose of this case study protocol is to provide an overview of how this case study was conducted. By documenting this information, the researcher hopes to guide any researcher to duplicate a similar study under similar circumstances, thus increasing the reliability of this study.

This study uses Stakeholder Theory to look at the role and impact of the individuals and groups involved in Enterprise Systems implementation. In particular, this study looks at three research questions:

- 1. How can the stakeholders of an ES implementation be identified? (Stakeholder identification)
- How can the important stakeholder of an ES implementation be differentiated? (Stakeholder prioritization)
- 3. How can the different stakeholders be managed? (Stakeholder management)

The case selected for this study is a department in a university, which began implementing a new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) module in March 2003. This study will initially cover the first two phases of this project, with an eye towards studying the remaining phases of the project through to its completion and post-implementation. This case involves a total of eleven stakeholders.

Data collected for this study comes from two sources, documentation and interviews. The documents reviewed include the project plan and minutes of meetings. These documents give background information on the project and how it was initiated, as well as details regarding the interactions between the various stakeholders involved in the project.

The interviews were conducted with select people from as many different stakeholder groups as possible and necessary. Such a diverse base is important so as to provide the researcher with as many different perspectives as possible regarding stakeholder roles, impact and interactions during the course of this project.

A.2Briefing the Interviewee

Before beginning the interview, it is necessary to reiterate several things regarding this study (in addition to the normal information such as ensuring confidentiality and seeking permission to record the interview):

- Given that the university has and is engaged in several ERP projects, it should be reiterated that the focus of the interview is on the SAP TM module, which is the focal point of this study.
- Also, given that the interviewees have a tendency to generalize their comments based on their overall project experiences, the interviewer should remind the interviewee to focus on just the first two phases of the project for all of the questions below.

- Furthermore, the interviewee should look at each phase separately and not generalize their opinions across both phases.

A.3Interview Questions

- 1. Background information
 - a. Full name
 - b. Official appointment
 - c. Number of years of having held this appointment
 - d. Contact information

Question 1 provides some demographic information about the interviewee.

- 2. How much do you know about the proposed system?
- 3. What is the scope of your involvement in this project?
 - a. In what ways do you think you can affect or be affected by the project?
 - b. How was your input into the project sourced and handled?

Questions 2 and 3 are meant to start them off on something familiar (i.e. their general impressions of the proposed system and their involvement in the project) before exploring the three research questions per se.

4. In your opinion, who are the other individuals/groups who can affect or be affected by this project (Appendix A)?

- a. Is there anyone else in addition to those listed in the appendix?
- b. How can this individual/group affect or be affected by this project?
- c. How is input from this individual/group sourced and handled?

Question 4 looks to build a comprehensive list of the stakeholders involved in the project. It also looks at how stakeholders are identified as being relevant to the project.

5. How would you describe your relationship with each of these individuals/groups?

a. In what ways (if any) do you interact with them?

Question 5 looks to build a stakeholder network for this project by identifying the interactions (both present and absent) between the stakeholders involved in the project.

- 6. How important do you consider each of these individuals/groups to the project?
 - a. Why do you consider this individual/group important?
 - b. What factors/characteristics affect the level of importance of this individual/group to the project?
 - i. Why does this factor/characteristic affect the level of importance?
 - ii. How does this factor/characteristic affect the level if importance?

Question 6 looks at who the more important stakeholders of the project are and why. If necessary, the interviewer can give several common factors as examples, such as power,

legitimacy or urgency, to get a discussion started if the interviewee is unable to think of any particular factors.

7. Does the importance of a group vary during the course of the project?

a. In what ways does it vary?

Question 7 gives insight into the dynamic nature of stakeholder importance during the project.

- 8. Does the difference in importance of each individual/group affect their involvement in the project?
 - a. Does it affect the way you work with them and handle their contributions to the project?
 - i. Why does it affect the way you interact with them?
 - ii. How does it affect the way you interact with them?
 - b. Does it affect the way the other individuals/groups involved in the project work with them and handle their contributions to the project?
 - i. Why does it affect the way they interact with them?
 - ii. How does it affect the way they interact with them?

Question 8 looks at how stakeholder importance affects stakeholder interactions during the project and how a stakeholder handles others who are of differing importance.

A.4List of Stakeholders

- 1. Steering Committee
- 2. Lead Project Managers
- 3. User Project Manager
- 4. User Lead
- 5. HRD-Users
- 6. HRD-IT
- 7. SAP Lead Consultant (SAP-LC)
- 8. Development Team
- 9. Computer Department
- 10. Policy Makers
- 11. University Staff (i.e. from other faculties and departments in the university)

Appendix B

A Sample of the Three-Step Thematic Analysis

B.1 Sample Thematic Analysis: Step One

In this step, key statements from each transcript and document are highlighted.

Interviewee	Statement		
Interviewee #1	The HRD-Users are important as they run the system operationally		
	daily.		
	The Project Manager (Lead) did not meet all the University IT staff, but		
	did correspond with all by e-mail or phone.		
	The Project Manager (Lead) has formal meetings with other		
	stakeholders.		
	We need to sit with HRD-Users and plan before implementing		
	anything.		
Interviewee #2	The decision to go ahead with this project was only made after the		
	HRD-Users were comfortable with it.		
	The HRD-IT is important as they assess whether certain things are		
	technically possible.		
	The Project Manager (User) facilitates discussion between the HRD-		
	Users and HRD-IT.		
	The Steering Committee has the final say.		

Interviewee #3	Documents are put on Web share point so the HRD-Users can verify.
	If the HRD-IT wants anything from users, they go through the Project
	Manager (User).
	The Project Manager (Lead) seeks the HRD-IT's input on documents
	as he's unfamiliar with leave system and business rules.
	We need to inform and discuss with other departments on changes if
	changes affect their systems (since systems are inter-linked).
	When changes come from the top, they have to do it.

B.2Sample Thematic Analysis: Step Two

Label	Statement			
Authority	The Steering Committee has the final say.			
	When changes come from the top, they have to do it.			
Decision-	The decision to go ahead with this project was only made after the			
making	HRD-Users were comfortable with it.			
	We need to inform and discuss with other departments on changes if			
	changes affect their systems (since systems are inter-linked).			
	We need to sit with HRD-Users and plan before implementing			
	anything.			
Domain	The HRD-IT is important as they assesses whether certain things are			
knowledge	technically possible.			
	The HRD-Users are important as they run the system operationally			
	daily.			
	The Project Manager (Lead) seeks the HRD-IT's input on documents			
	as he's unfamiliar with leave system and business rules.			
Formal	The Project Manager (Lead) has formal meetings with other			
communication	stakeholders.			
	If the HRD-IT wants anything from users, they go through the Project			
	Manager (User).			
	The Project Manager (User) facilitates discussion between the HRD-			
	Users and HRD-IT.			

In this step, each statement is given a label.

Use IT	Documents are put on Web share point so the HRD-Users can verify.	
	The Project Manager (Lead) did not meet all the University IT staff, but	
	did correspond with all by e-mail or phone.	

B.3Sample Thematic Analysis: Step Three

In this step, the labels are grouped into themes.

Theme	Label	Statement
Stakeholder	Authority	The Steering Committee has the final say.
characteristics		When changes come from the top, they have to do it.
	Domain	The HRD-IT is important as they assesses whether
	knowledge	certain things are technically possible.
		The HRD-Users are important as they run the system
		operationally daily.
		The Project Manager (Lead) seeks the HRD-IT's
		input on documents as he's unfamiliar with leave
		system and business rules.
Build	Decision-	The decision to go ahead with this project was only
stakeholder	making	made after the HRD-Users were comfortable with it.
acceptance		We need to inform and discuss with other
		departments on changes if changes affect their
		systems (since systems are inter-linked).
		We need to sit with HRD-Users and plan before
		implementing anything.
Inter-	Formal	If the HRD-IT wants anything from users, they go
stakeholder	communication	through the Project Manager (User).
knowledge		The Project Manager (Lead) has formal meetings
sharing		with other stakeholders.

		The Project Manager (User) facilitates discussion
		between the HRD-Users and HRD-IT.
	Use IT	Documents are put on Web share point so the HRD-
		Users can verify.
		The Project Manager (Lead) did not meet all the
		University IT staff, but did correspond with all by e-
		mail or phone.
Appendix C

A Sample Codebook

C.1Code Number One

Element	Content
Label of theme	Domain knowledge
Definition of what	A statement that indicates that a stakeholder is handled or seen
it concerns	differently because he has unique knowledge that is not possessed
	by other stakeholders.
Description of how	Look for phrases that indicate knowledge or experience.
to identify it	Look for phrases that indicate that a particular reaction is due to
	the presence of this knowledge.
Examples	"X seeks Y as he's unfamiliar with the business rules."
	"X does the configuration, as he's more familiar with it."

C.2Code Number Two

Element	Content
Label of theme	Use of IT
Definition of what	A statement that indicates that IT is used in some way during the
it concerns	course of stakeholder interactions.
Description of how	Look for phrases that talk about IT.
to identify it	Look for phrases that indicate that a stakeholder uses this IT
	during the course of his interaction with another stakeholder.
Examples	"Documents put on a Web share point so users can verify."
	"Did correspond with all the staff by e-mail."